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SENATOR DEBORAH ORTIZ:  . . . I understand Senator Speier is in route—about ten or fifteen minutes away.  When she arrives, of course she will be afforded the opportunity to make a few comments.


Senator Speier and I discussed, quite frankly, an opportunity to join our two committees to look at this one issue of lead content in Mexican candy in our dual functions as chair of the Health Committee as well as Senator Speier’s role as chair of the Select Committee on Government Oversight.  Much of the questions and testimony today will focus on, certainly, the Department of Health Services and information that appears to have been available.  The question arises:  Why have we not seen enforcement of what has been a fairly well-documented high level of lead in candies over a period of time?


We all know, and we have known for decades, that lead is particularly toxic, especially to infants and children and pregnant women.  We know that in very small amounts lead can cause damage to the liver, kidneys, lungs, brain, spleen, muscles, heart, and central nervous system.  It stunts the growth of children and impairs behavioral development and intelligence in children, often permanently.  Significant exposure can also lead to death.


We’ve spent the last forty years in California fighting lead exposure by banning lead paint and gasoline and educating the consumers.  We spend nearly $20 million every year on efforts to educate parents and remove lead paint and other risks from the environment of children.  That is why we were so shocked and we were fairly upset when we learned that the bans that we have in place and the removal efforts that we’ve instituted may not be enough; and that this newly discovered risk is not simply an environmental exposure but a hidden ingredient in the candy that is so popular among the Mexican immigrant community.  How are parents to know that the treats their families enjoy may be extremely hazardous to their health?


We have made great progress to decrease the incident of lead poisoning in California.  I actually authored a bill a couple of years ago for the department on the enforcement mechanisms.  Working with residential removal and the enforcement mechanisms in place, I was dismayed to learn that 75 percent of all the cases of lead poisoning in the state are Latino children.  I would like representatives from the county health departments and the state Department of Health Services to explain why this is the case and what we’re doing in California to better educate the Latino community.


Obviously, we live in a very global and diverse economy which brings great benefits, but when one of every ten food items consumed in the United States is imported from another country, it becomes very important to ensure that those items meet the same health standards that the food produced in this country meets.  It is our responsibility as state leaders and regulators to not only remove the existing risks of lead from household dangers but to also ensure that we are not importing new risks.


I’d like to now invite my colleague and cosponsor of the hearing, Senator Speier, to make a few opening remarks.


SENATOR JACKIE SPEIER:  Thank you, Senator Ortiz.


I’m pleased to join with Senator Ortiz, as chair of the Senate Health Committee, to look into the dangers that are posed to California’s children by lead from a very unexpected source, and that being candy.  Most of our focus has been on the lead that comes from lead paint or from petroleum products, and it really wasn’t until the recent articles in the Orange County Register that the public has become aware of the great risks.  And I want to compliment Ms. McKim and the Orange County Register for doing a remarkable job in investigating this issue.


I’m alarmed that with as much as we know about the threats posed by lead poisoning we still do not have a full grasp of the problem and about the sources of the lead.  We know the obvious sources:  leaded gasoline, lead-based paint, lead solder.  We have tried to deal with them, but it seems that what we really need to focus our attention on are the less obvious sources, particularly imported goods and foods.


We are lucky in the United States that we have developed confidence over the past ten or twenty years in that we are protected from foods or other products that are harmful.  We have a strong regulatory network to enforce strict food and product safety.  Or do we?  Are we really safe?


We recently have learned that our beef is not as safe as we had been led to believe and that the government regulators are more interested in protecting meat producers than the unsuspecting public who might be exposed to mad cow disease.  E. coli is always a lurking threat.  Now we find out that candy made in Mexico may be poisoning our children and that the government regulators have been aware of this threat for some time.  And what have they done?  Based on the reports that we’ve received, there have been seven alerts that have been sent out; but frankly, until the Orange County Register did their series, I don’t think the general public had a clue.  


We know that lead is insidious.  It eats away not just at our children’s bodies but at their minds.  There’ve been many studies that show that even a relatively small amount of lead can reduce a child’s brain development.  How do you measure the impact, economic or social, of a lower IQ?  How do you measure what might have been?  All we can do is try to make sure that our children do not have to face that question.


Now, I’m a mother of two, and I know on a daily basis what it’s like to say no to kids when it comes to candy.  We don’t.  And when you think about it, the fact that lead is being transported into our children’s bodies through candy is more insidious than almost anything I can think about.


I also want to address another issue, and that is the outrageous and unilateral decision by some companies to stop paying the fees that they are required to pay to support the Childhood Lead Poisoning Prevention Program.  This important program was created by then-Assemblyman Lloyd Connolly years ago with a fee imposed on the industries that bore responsibility for most of the lead that poisoned our air, our earth, and our homes:  the petroleum and paint industries.


It’s true that they no longer produce lead-based gasoline or lead-based paint and lead poisoning has decreased as a result, but the damage caused by those products still lingers.  Toxic lead from gas still can be found in dirt.  Lead paint continues to be a problem in older homes, particularly in low-income neighborhoods.  And I must say that I am extremely disturbed by reports that some of these oil companies are making a calculated decision not to pay their fees as required by law.  Some of them are paying 50 percent of the fees that they’re required to pay, and some of them are paying zero.  In addition to that, the state has done nothing to compel them to pay these legally mandated fees.  Meanwhile, consumers are paying upwards of $2.50 for a gallon of gas.


We’ve asked representatives of the petroleum and paint industries to be here today to explain their actions, and I hope that the Department of Health Services and/or the attorney general can explain why they have been allowed to disregard the law and why no action has been taken against them for not complying with the law.


With that—Senator Ortiz?


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.


Let me now mention that we’ve invited Assemblymember Juan Vargas to join us.  He has, actually, in the past and again this year authored a piece of legislation and I believe held his own hearings in the district.  I believe that the Assembly is in session right now, but there is a possibility that he may be joining us.


Let me thank Senator Speier for certainly raising this issue and feeling the same outrage we’re all feeling in a lot of sectors.  I look forward to hearing from the representative from the petroleum industry and certainly the department to clarify what appears to be the absence of action with a lot of documented information internally.


But with that, let’s go to our first panel.  As I mentioned earlier, we have many speakers, and as much as we all care about the issue, I don’t think we want to be here all day.  I do understand that the witnesses have been briefed and informed that they should present within five to ten minutes.  Please know that the briefer you are, the more time it allows us to ask questions and actually help you through this process.


I think there may be one revision in the agenda, but I want to acknowledge we did invite a representative. . . . well, actually, we have our consul general as well as Ms. Bologna, along with the federal Commission for the Protection Against Health Threats, from the country of Mexico Luis Flores Luna, who is here.  I’m not sure if the consul general will speak or whether it’s Mr. Flores?  Okay.  So, we’re going to make an accommodation on the second panel, and that would be:  “What Steps Have Been Taken to Prevent Lead-Tainted Candy From Reaching California Consumers?”  So, there will be a change in the agenda there.  I suspect that it probably would be appropriate to allow Mr. Luna to join us probably as the first speaker and hopefully clarify what the country of Mexico’s policy is.


With that, let me invite the first panel:  “The Public Health Problem Posed by Lead:  How Serious is the Public Health Threat Posed by Lead-Tainted Candy?”  We have the newly installed and very well-respected Dr. Richard Jackson, who is the state public health officer.  And let me ask all the other representatives to come forward as well:  Dr. George Alexeeff—and is Dr. Valerie Charleton here as well?  If so, I would encourage you to go ahead and join us and any others on that panel that can find room here.


With that, let’s have Dr. Jackson open.


DR. RICHARD JACKSON:  Good morning, Senator Ortiz, Senator Speier.


It’s a pleasure to be back in California.  I’ve been back about a month.  I worked in California for 15 years doing environmental public health.  I went to the Centers for Disease Control for the last 10 years and was head of one of the centers there that included the Childhood Lead Poisoning Prevention Program—a          $40 million national program to prevent childhood lead poisoning—and I’ve watched the progress of the California program over the years.


My testimony’s long and I’d like, with permission, to enter it into the record.  A number of the things that are in the testimony really repeat your opening statements, and there’s really no reason to go through every word.


I’m joined by Dr. Charleton, as you mentioned.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Dr. Jackson?  I don’t know that we have that information in our packets.


DR. JACKSON:  The actual testimony?


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Correct.


DR. JACKSON:  Can I read from it first, and then I’ll give it to you?


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Certainly, but let’s make sure we have it for the committee afterwards, and we’ll have the sergeants take care of it.


Please begin.


DR. JACKSON:  Thank you.


I’m joined by Dr. Valerie Charleton, a neonatologist, a pediatrician, and head of the childhood lead poisoning program, and Dr. Jeff Farrar, who’s head of the Food Safety Section in our Food and Drug Branch.


One child with lead poisoning is one child too many.  California’s done a terrific job over the last ten years.  We’re at half the number of children we had ten years ago, and that’s remarkable compared even to the rest of the country.  That doesn’t mean that we need to stop, but it does mean the trajectory is in the right direction.  Lead in paint is still the biggest risk factor and particularly to poor children—children living in bad homes.


California was the first to identify candy as the potential source for lead exposure and conducted random testing of candy at the distribution level, issued public health warnings, and educated consumers; albeit, I think a lot more education needs to happen, and Valerie will be talking about the kind of information that was put out.


As you mentioned, lead gets into children from what they eat or actually from what they breathe as well.  Children who are young—the brain is developing—are at greater risk than older individuals.  And the damage can be long-term.  Once the synapses of the brain are affected during the growth phase, you can’t really undo that.  So, it’s a window of vulnerability that one is talking about.


The department has been working aggressively with doctors, nurses, healthcare providers, and local public and environmental health departments to find children who are lead poisoned and when you find children that are borderline to go out and make sure that those levels do not go up.  The department scanned and looked over 450,000 blood samples for children that might have elevated lead and found close to 4,000 children as having elevated levels for the first time—that’s over 10 micrograms per deciliter—and worked closely with the public and environmental health departments to make sure that that goes down through prevention measures.


It’s very important when a child is lead poisoned to go out and do a home investigation.  One of the things that was most remarkable is, as they went out, about 60 percent of cases it was found that the paint in the house or the dust in the house was present and lead-contaminated.  About 22 percent of the homes had home remedies, like azarcon and greta, which are basically lead tetroxide, and home hobbies.  About 11 percent of the families had home hobbies that used lead.  And about 22 percent of folks of the families where the parents worked in a setting, that they brought home lead contamination with them.  Valerie can talk about this more.  Pottery was about 3 percent.  Food items and candy were present in about 11 percent of the investigations.


It’s important to note that although these potential sources of lead exposure were reported in the child’s household or environment, the relative roles of these sources played in the child’s lead poisoning are not fully known.


The number of children who are affected by lead poisoning has steadily decreased.  By lead poisoning, I’m talking about a blood lead of 15 or higher consistently or a blood lead of 20 even on one sample.  In 1994, 1,600 children were found to have lead poisoning.  In 2003, 726 were found to have lead poisoning.  Despite the significant reduction in the number of children suffering from lead poisoning, we still have quite a ways to go to eliminate this problem.


I was shocked, I’ll tell you, in my CDC job about three years ago when I heard this story about the candy.  I had no idea that candy could be a source of lead poisoning.  We actually published in the national newsletter of the CDC a report that California submitted on lead poisoning associated with tamarind candy and folk remedies.


Since 1993, the department has tested candies collected in home investigations and from other sources and found the presence of lead in some of these candies.  About 8 percent of the tests performed were performed by DHS laboratories and lead levels exceeded the federal and state regulatory standard of .5 parts per million.  The department issued seven press warnings on imported candy, six of them on Mexican candy, and embargoed thousands of cases of imported candy.  These efforts are carried out in close collaboration with the federal Food and Drug Administration who has the regulatory authority over the safety of imported foods and those in interstate commerce.  When the Food and Drug Administration testing shows a pattern of noncompliance with federal standards, the product is placed on an import alert and prevented from entering the country.


Some Mexican candy products have been subject to these import alerts.  Although we do not have evidence that a significant proportion of Mexican candy consumed in California does not enter through regulated import channels, the majority of the Mexican candies found in households where lead-poisoned children resided came directly from Mexico, outside of regulated food distribution networks.


In the next panel, my colleagues from the Department of Health Services will present to you the activities of their program, and then I will return at the end to summarize.


Dr. Charleton, I think you’re next?


DR. VALERIE CHARLETON:  Well, I have a question.  I got listed for both panels.  We only have, both Jeff and I, individual testimony.  Do you want us to go ahead now or later?  Whatever you prefer.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Well, I think if you can cover the topic in one panel, if your comments could address the two topic areas, you can certainly do it at this time.


DR. CHARLETON:  Good morning, Senator Ortiz, Senator Speier, members of the Senate’s Health and Human Services Committee and the Select Committee on Government Oversight, ladies and gentlemen.


I am Dr. Valerie Charleton, chief of the Childhood Lead Poisoning Prevention Branch in the California Department of Health Services, and I want to thank you for this opportunity to tell you about the California Childhood Lead Poisoning Prevention Program.


First, I want to strongly reiterate Dr. Jackson’s statement that even one child with a high blood lead level is too many.  The Childhood Lead Poisoning Prevention Branch is dedicated to preventing lead poisoning, and over the next few minutes I’ll provide a brief overview of the Lead Poisoning Prevention Program.  Our activities cover many aspects of childhood lead poisoning, including lead-contaminated imported candy.


As mentioned by Dr. Jackson, and also in the preliminary remarks, lead enters into the body by eating and breathing, and at high blood and tissue levels, children may show signs of lead poisoning.  But at lower lead levels, there are little or no signs of symptoms, even though lead can still cause lower intelligence and learning problems.  It’s because of the lack of signs or symptoms that exposure to lead at lower levels is only detected by screening for lead poisoning which, in my remarks, means performing a blood lead test.


Recognizing the long-term problems that can be caused by lead exposure, the California Legislature passed laws beginning in the late 1980s on lead poisoning.  The Childhood Lead Poisoning Prevention Act of 1991 established the current program and gave the Department of Health Services (DHS) responsibility for establishing approaches and regulations on screening children for lead poisoning and ensuring public health services for those identified with lead poisoning.  These services include referrals for healthcare, public health nursing case management, investigation of a child’s environment for lead exposure, and educational activities to reduce a child’s exposure to lead.  DHS is also responsible for collecting and analyzing information related to lead poisoning services and activities.


The 1991 act established a special fund to support the program, with fees being imposed on industries that significantly contributed to, or continue to contribute to, environmental lead contamination.  Another law in 1993 created the Lead-Related Construction Program, which is also within the Childhood Lead Poisoning Prevention Branch.


As Dr. Jackson mentioned, and as has been said in preliminary remarks, much exposure to lead comes from lead in old paint and lead in dust and soil.  The Lead-Related Construction Program has several responsibilities in preventing this exposure, and the main one is to see that individuals who work in construction know about lead problems and are trained in safe practices so they do not cause the public to be exposed to lead.  This program receives funds from the United States Environmental Protection Agency.


Recent legislation introduced by Senator Ortiz and sponsored by DHS was signed into law and went into effect just last year, in 2003.  This very important law requires laboratories to report the results of all blood lead tests that are performed to the Department of Health Services so that we can for the first time better understand which children are and are not being tested for lead poisoning and which communities have the greatest risk for lead poisoning.  The bill also made lead a problem under housing law which can now require correction of housing with lead hazards.


The overall Childhood Lead Poisoning Prevention Program currently consists of the Childhood Lead Branch in DHS and 45 local childhood lead poisoning prevention programs (which I’ll call CLPPP), and health departments throughout the state.  These local programs receive contracts from DHS to work on lead poisoning.  Above all, the state branch and the local programs strive to prevent lead poisoning from occurring in the first place.  They reach out to families, communities, and healthcare providers.  They develop materials in English and Spanish that teach people about lead poisoning and sources of lead.  And some of these materials are also produced in other languages.  The state branch works to increase blood lead screening and identification of lead-poisoned children.  The branch tracks follow-up of children with high lead levels and looks for the source of the lead exposure and supervises activities of the local programs.  We provide information to medical providers caring for these children and some direct services to children poisoned by lead.


It’s the local CLPPP programs that work with the local communities.  They carry out public health nursing management of children with lead poisoning in their communities, interview families, and investigate the environments of these children to look for lead.  They work to increase screening in their communities, reduce sources of lead, and help identify any new ways that children may be exposed.


At the state and local level, the program partners with other health programs such as WIC, Medi-Cal, and Child Health and Disability Prevention (CHDP) to teach families about lead and the need to have their children screened.  The children served by these programs are considered at increased risk for lead poisoning, and I will mention that over 65 percent of children served by CHDP are Latino.  So, the programs by themselves that we partner with are preponderantly Latino.


By regulations developed by DHS, children in these healthcare programs are expected to receive blood lead screening at one and two years of age, and WIC even now includes a place for blood lead test results on the pediatric doctor referral form that goes to every WIC client.


Over the decade that the program has been functioning, as mentioned, the number of children that have been lead poisoned has markedly decreased, but approximately 13,000 cases of lead poisoning have been identified in that time and received the services I described.


I’d like to give some examples of the activities that we do that teach Californians about lead and prevent lead poisoning from occurring, with some emphasis on imported candies.


In the past two years, all medical providers licensed in California, all CHD providers, and all Medi-Cal providers have received information about lead poisoning through letters and through articles in the Medical Board of California Action Report.  They have been told about their responsibilities for informing families about lead hazards and for blood lead screening.  Medical providers have also been told that there are multiple sources of lead including pottery, folk remedies, and imported foods, such Mexican and tamarind candies.  In addition, in Fiscal Year 2002/2003, over 1,200 medical providers were reached directly through our branch presentations.


CLPPP program brochures, posters, and fliers inform families about lead poisoning and about the need to have their children screened.  I have brought some of these materials here today.  They’re in Spanish and English, and imported candies, particularly those from Mexico, are pointed out as a source of lead.  And if you will allow me to, I will just give you a couple of them.


What I’m sending up are materials. . . . all the materials are bilingual, in Spanish and English, and these are tabbed.  They’re just examples of what we have.  There’s brochures—two different types of brochures—given to families that educate them about lead poisoning from paint and multiple sources.  So, you’ll find the greta and azarcon, imported candies, and tamarind candies in there as well.  The gentleman still holding those brochures I’m talking about.  There’s a growth chart that’s distributed to families, that because they’re toddlers, people could measure the growth of their child.  One side is English; one side is Spanish.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  How long have these materials been available?


DR. CHARLETON:  Years.  The brochures actually. . . . I mean, they keep getting updated.  But I also brought an example of a poster developed by one of our local programs—because local programs develop things as well—in San Diego with the American Academy of Pediatrics that points out imported candies as a source of lead.  The poster comes in English and Spanish.  The one I brought is dated 2001, as you’ll see.  I’ve seen them in the branch back to ’99.


This has multiple sources of lead poisoning.  It does have the housing and the paint, but you’ll see it has the pottery, the home remedies, the candies, et cetera.  And as I said, the date on this particular poster . . . [inaudible] . . . 2001.


In the past two years, we have printed and distributed hundreds of thousands of these and similar materials.  For example, in Fiscal Year 2003/2004, we will have printed 500,000 of the basic brochures that you see—they come in both languages—200,000 of the growth charts, and 40,000 calendars.  The calendars are bilingual, and they’re meant for pediatric offices and community offices that have informing.  We will also have printed over a million general message bookmarks and other things to talk about screening and are currently ordering 300,000 new brochures on lead developed by WIC which will have a special childhood lead poisoning prevention insert.


In Fiscal Years 2002 and 2003, CLPPP activities also directly reached approximately 100,000 parents, 1,200 childcare providers, and 2,000 staff of community-based organizations.


I do want to mention, by the end of last fiscal year, August 2003, through our Lead Safe Schools Program, which is carried out in contract with University of California at Berkeley, 70 percent of school districts had received some training on lead and lead-safe environments and practices.  Those are elementary school districts.


If a child is identified as a lead poisoning case, the nurse makes a home visit to the family.  So, if the prevention activities do not succeed in preventing a case, there’s a public health nurse that makes a visit to the family.  Our program guidance for public health nurses working in local programs informs the nurses that imported candies are a source of lead.  The nurses are instructed to look for imported candies, particularly those from Mexico.  Families are told to discard the candies and encouraged to use nutritious substitutes.  And as I’ve mentioned, our materials give general warnings about imported candies.


While we have been working to prevent lead poisoning and alert the public on sources of lead, such as candy, there still obviously remains much to be done.  DHS is currently developing a strategic plan for the elimination of childhood lead poisoning with the input of stakeholders from around the state with many perspectives.  The plan will provide guidance for lead poisoning activities for the next five years.  We’re working with many partners, and as an example, I’d like to point out that the Environmental Health Coalition, which has been focusing on lead in Mexican candies, has been a very welcomed participant at these planning sessions.


The goal of the Childhood Lead Poisoning Prevention Program is to prevent lead poisoning, and we look forward to working with our partners to reach this goal.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I have a couple of questions, but I’m going to see if Senator Speier wants to ask any questions at this point.  We generally go through all of the testimony, but I think what you have provided is really relevant, and I have some questions.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Well, let’s start off with the basics.  My understanding is you don’t have any of this information on your website.  Is that true?


DR. CHARLETON:  The website of the Childhood Lead Branch, if you look at it, is probably not a very high-class website.  We are not that skilled in website technology.  What the website basically is, is a list of lead programs in your community, how to get accredited people to do work, and how to contact us.  It provides some information for medical providers.  It has never been meant to be an all-inclusive website.


SENATOR SPEIER:  All right.  For starters, this is all fine.  But lots of people now get their information from the web, and that should be a high priority for you.  You should have alerts for any kind of recall or warning placed on your website.


DR. CHARLETON:  Well, Department of Health Services does have those alerts, and you reach us through the DHS website.


SENATOR SPEIER:  It doesn’t help to somehow try and suggest that there’s a way of doing it.  It’s the focus of your profession, it’s the focus of your branch, and the website should have, first and foremost, reference to the fact that this is a problem.  You spend lots of money on fliers and handouts, but it’s not even on your website.


Second question.  Do you ever provide this information as a flier in the materials that are sent home to parents before the start of each school year?


DR. CHARLETON:  I cannot speak for what the individual county programs do.  The target population—the population that’s at greatest risk for lead poisoning—is a preschool population.  It’s the toddlers, the one- and two-year-olds.  So, while I think education through school is a terrific idea, a lot of the outreach has been to focus on the under-six group.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Are you saying that if a six-year-old eats one of these candies on a daily basis, that they’re not going to have lead poisoning?


DR. CHARLETON:  Maybe I could just step back and correct and explain something.


The amount of lead that is in most of the candies is well below the FDA maximum recommended limit.  I do believe that families and people need to be educated.  We have been pointing this out as a source.  Dr. Jackson mentioned that it’s under 8 percent of the candies that we tested are at the federal limit or above, and you would have to be eating a candy that was at that level day in and day out—and it varies from batch to batch—to develop lead poisoning, and there’s a large margin of safety.  I don’t believe a child should consume any lead, and I don’t think that they should have additional stuff.  We have worked with some schools about providing information.  But to answer your question, schools up until now through the state have not been a focus.


SENATOR SPEIER:  My recommendation to you would be, as a parent who gets that packet every start of the school year and has to go through every page, that’s where this information should be, and it should go to the entire population.  To target one population over another is foolish because kids will eat candy no matter where they’re from and no matter where it comes from.  So, it’s in everyone’s interest for the whole population to be informed about this, and a one-page flier is not costly.  It can be duplicated at the school sites and should be something that you provide to every superintendent of schools in this state for that purpose.


Now, based on your comments, Doctor, it seems that you’re suggesting that we don’t really have a problem here.


DR. CHARLETON:  I would not say that a source of lead exposure is not a problem.  But the question that Senator Ortiz asked was, if a child ate one of these candies, would they be poisoned? and I was pointing out that the chance of—


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Actually, I didn’t ask that.


DR. CHARLETON:  I’m sorry.  You, Senator Speier.  I apologize.  One of these candies would not poison a child.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Well, according to the Orange County Register, the Department of Health Services has documented 1,500 tests of Mexican candies since 1993, and one in four of those results showed a significant amount of lead.  So, 25 percent of the candy that you tested—  


DR. CHARLETON:  That’s not true.


SENATOR SPEIER:  So, the information from the Orange County Register is inaccurate.


DR. CHARLETON:  Maybe Jeff should go through his discussion, or do you want us to address it now?


DR. JACKSON:  Dr. Farrar is from the actual Food and Drug Branch that does this testing, and perhaps we ought to ask him to—


SENATOR ORTIZ:  If you could quickly clarify that point, but I think the questions for Dr. Charleton are appropriate for her testimony—but if you want to clarify that point.


DR. JEFF FARRAR:  The Orange County Register article was in error in some of their points.  The regulatory standard is 0.5 ppm.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  That’s a federal standard.


DR. FARRAR:  Federal and state standard.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  But ours is .2.


DR. FARRAR:  No, that’s incorrect.  We adopt the federal standards by reference.  Our standard is the same as the federal of 0.5 ppm.


SENATOR SPEIER:  You know what?  This becomes very problematic when you have staff, consultants, and lawyers review information and then, based on what they read, put statements in documents that we then read, and then you tell us that something is different.


The California Childhood Lead Poisoning Prevention Program sets unsafe lead levels in a standard-sized 30-gram candy as 0.2 parts per million and above.  Is that true or false?


DR. CHARLETON:  That’s false.


SENATOR SPEIER:  That’s false?


DR. CHARLETON:  Well, we are not the regulatory branch.  The regulatory level is .5 parts per million.  Where that concept came from. . . . you know, as has been pointed out, we do look for sources of exposure, and we try to educate the public, and we try to inform ourselves about risks.  The chief of our epidemiology branch began to look at candies.  Some candies are very small.  Some candies are large.  And if you have a candy that’s particularly large and you had .2 parts per million of lead in that candy, you could reach the 6 micrograms a day, which is the federal recommended daily intake.  But that’s not the regulatory level of candy.  So, that was a conceptual point that came up in some discussion, and on some of his tables he was normalizing all candy to that size, even when it was smaller.


So, it is a level that came from that thought, but it’s not our regulatory level, and we don’t regulate.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Dr. Jackson, did you give that statement to the consultant?  I’m just trying to find who gave this information to the consultant that we put it in a document.  I mean, we don’t make these things out of _________.  Someone told us this.  


No one has an answer.


So, your belief, then, is candy is safe if it’s .5 parts per million or less—or .4 parts per million.


DR. CHARLETON:  That isn’t what was said.  What was said was that the regulatory level is .5.  A small candy at .5 would give a low dose of lead a day.  A large candy or multiple candies could give you a larger dose, and if you ate that day in and day out, that would be important.  It is important.  That’s why we’ve been educating people about it.


SENATOR SPEIER:  And is the FDA not contemplating reducing their standard?


DR. FARRAR:  Yes, Senator.  The FDA has advised state regulators in the candy industry that they are contemplating reducing that standard from .5 ppm to either .1 or .2 ppm.


SENATOR SPEIER:  All right.  So, back to the Orange County Register’s statement that 25 percent of the candies you tested were at a significant amount of lead.  Is that a fair comment?


DR. FARRAR:  In my testimony, I have a glimpse of the results using the   .5 ppm regulatory standard.  I can give that to you now or later; whatever your preference.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Actually, Senator, maybe we should just have, at least from my perspective, hear from all of them, and then we can ask questions.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Yes, I’m thinking Dr. Alexeeff can probably clarify some of this.


Thank you for your testimony.  I’ll hold off on my questions.


I think the next speaker is Dr. Alexeeff.  Hopefully, your presentation will shed some light on this.


DR. GEORGE ALEXEEFF:  Good morning, Senator Speier, Senator Ortiz, and Senator Vincent.  Thank you very much for inviting me here this morning.


My name is Dr. George Alexeeff.  I’m deputy director for Scientific Affairs of the Office of Environmental Health Hazard Assessment.  We’re the health science arm of the California Environmental Protection Agency.  Our role is to develop health guidelines that then often go into standards.  We’ve developed guidelines for air, water, soil, Proposition 65.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, we’re still clarifying the balance between the public health risk versus the risk management standards discrepancy that we’ve run into.


DR. ALEXEEFF:  Yes.  In our role we don’t do risk management.  We simply provide health guidance, and it’s up to either the Department of Health Services or another board and department to actually make a regulatory decision based upon feasibility and other issues they have to address.  We simply look at the science and try to indicate, based upon the criteria we have, what level would be with very little risk or no risk of exposure.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  And that’s the public health goal.


DR. ALEXEEFF:  Right.  The public health goal is one of the standards we develop.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  And then the department obviously then goes and establishes the risk assessment level.


DR. ALEXEEFF:  Right.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.


DR. ALEXEEFF:  I’ll just go briefly through exposure and the health effects of lead—I know we’ve covered some of this, so I can do it fairly quickly—and a little bit about lead candy.


So how are people exposed to lead?  You heard Dr. Jackson mention that it’s been throughout our environment.  In the past the major source was air exposure because of leaded gasoline.  Now we’re far below the health standards that we helped develop for the air.  We’re about a hundred-fold below that.  In drinking water, it can be an important source.  The general distribution system is fine.  There’s no lead in that, but some components, either in faucets or plumbing when the water is corrosive, can produce lead.  Our Prop. 65 warning level helped reduce lead in faucets through the Attorney General’s Office.  In the diet, generally it’s minimal exposure due to reduction of lead solder in cans.  Our Prop. 65 warning level through the Attorney General’s Office helped reduce lead in tableware, which was an important source of exposure.


SENATOR SPEIER:  What do you mean by that?  I mean, the fact that you have a warning is good enough?  The lead’s still in the tableware—right?


DR. ALEXEEFF:  No.  Although it’s just a warning, what it would require is for the companies to warn the public that they are exposing them to lead, and in order to avoid that, to have a label in their product or in the store with a sign, they would rather reduce the lead in tableware.


SENATOR SPEIER:  You know, I couldn’t disagree with you more.  I was in Mikasa just last weekend, and they have a Prop. 65 sign up.  Does that mean that all of the dinnerware in that store has lead or some of it does?


DR. ALEXEEFF:  All we can do is provide the warning.  There’s a provision for suing if people do not warn.  So, in that case they are meeting the law, and people can make a decision whether or not to buy that tableware.  If it’s unclear what tableware is contaminated, then that’s something that either consumers. . . . they have to contact the company.  Unfortunately, we don’t have that kind of information.


SENATOR SPEIER:  So, you don’t feel any obligation to go out into a community and just test the tableware to see?


DR. ALEXEEFF:  We have no resources.  We’re a very small department.  We have no testing facilities at all.  The other boards and departments or the Health Services department would have to do testing or the Attorney General’s Office.  We have no testing capability.


SENATOR SPEIER:  And you are the deputy director of Scientific Affairs, Office of Environmental Health Hazard Assessment in the Department of Health Services?


DR. ALEXEEFF:  No.  I’m in the California EPA.


SENATOR SPEIER:  All right.


DR. ALEXEEFF:  And then other sources that are important sources of exposure are dust, particularly brought home from occupational exposure, leaded paint chips, contaminated soil, general occupational exposure, and certain consumer products, which I guess is the tableware you mentioned.


Now, in terms of the health effects in adults, low levels impair red blood cell formation and can increase blood pressure.  At higher levels, it damages nerves, the kidneys, impairs sperm production, and increases the risk of miscarriage.


SENATOR SPEIER:  So, outside of having a lead blood test, you wouldn’t know if you have too much lead in your system.  Correct?


DR. ALEXEEFF:  Correct.


SENATOR SPEIER:  And if you had high blood pressure, arguably it could come from any number of sources, but lead is one of them.


DR. ALEXEEFF:  Correct.


SENATOR SPEIER:  But if you have high blood pressure and then you did have a lead blood test. . . . I’m trying to see when you could see a corollary or not.


DR. ALEXEEFF:  Yes, there are corollaries.  Because lead is one of the few compounds that we have measurements in blood—and there’s extensive measurement done occupationally and in children—we can actually look at health effects and compare it to lead levels in individuals.  That’s something we can’t do with almost any other chemical.  So, people have been able to show that people with higher lead levels have a greater risk for increased blood pressure and hypertension.  It’s a contributing factor just as other factors would be.  It probably would not be the sole factor unless it was very, very, very high.


In children, lower levels impair IQ; learning:  for example, reading, math, and spelling; ability to learn.  It can affect behavior such as attention span.  At higher levels it can cause premature birth, low birth weight, kidney damage, anemia, and brain damage.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Have there been any studies where lead blood tests have been done over a population of Special Ed kids as a study?


DR. ALEXEEFF:  I’m not aware.  I’m not aware of that.  Maybe the health department is aware?


SENATOR SPEIER:  Dr. Charleston?


DR. CHARLETON:  I don’t know about Special Education as a question, but there have been studies looking at blood lead levels when you were two versus how you performed in school in terms of attention and distractibility and things that would fit into that same question, and there was a correlation. 


DR. ALEXEEFF:  So, how does consumption of contaminated candy add to a child’s lead burden?  Well, if you eat one ounce of candy—so, that would be several small pieces—containing 2 to 4 parts per million—and I know the standard we heard was .5 parts per million—so, even if this met the standard, let’s say, that would cause an exposure of 6 to 12 micrograms of lead.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Now, is that exposure for one day?


DR. ALEXEEFF:  Yes.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Does that dissipate through your body, or does it stay in your body?


DR. ALEXEEFF:  It does accumulate, okay?  Not all of it would stay in your body.  So, if you continued to eat an ounce of candy a day and over three months, then it would reach a constant level, and this level would add about 1 to 2 micrograms of lead per deciliter of blood. Basically, all the health effects are correlated with the amount of lead in blood.  So, eating that concentration for that period of time would attain that constant level, and this would be in addition to what other exposures you have.


SENATOR SPEIER:  So, that’s not unreasonable.  It’s not unreasonable to have a child eat an ounce of candy a day.


DR. ALEXEEFF:  No.  I wouldn’t think so.


SENATOR SPEIER:  I know so.


DR. ALEXEEFF:  Now, the Centers for Disease Control, it was mentioned, has a level of concern of 10 micrograms of lead per deciliter.  That was established in 1991, and that’s generally accepted throughout regulatory arenas.  However, more recent data suggests that this standard may be too high.  Recent studies report effects in children at lead levels as low as 3 micrograms per deciliter and even possibly lower.


This is a little complicated graph, but I would like to just briefly go through it just because it explains how lead candy exposure can add to other exposures.  On the bottom, the “X” axis, you see lead from candy.  That’s if you had candy contaminated with that much lead.  That’s on the bottom.  On the left scale is the amount of micrograms of lead per deciliter of blood.  So, that first line from the bottom up is the average amount of lead that children have in their blood—children from one to five.  They have about 2.2 micrograms per deciliter.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Just in the normal course of living.


DR. ALEXEEFF:  Yes.  That’s where we are now.


SENATOR SPEIER:  And if they eat one ounce of candy with lead?


DR. ALEXEEFF:  Well, if you eat one ounce of candy, if it had, let’s say,     .4 parts per million of lead, it would move that child from approximately 2 to 4 micrograms of lead per deciliter.  So, it almost doubled that child’s exposure.


UNIDENTIFIED:  For six months.


DR. ALEXEEFF:  Yes, they have to eat it for at least three months.


DR. CHARLETON:  Every day.


DR. ALEXEEFF:  So, every day.


DR. CHARLETON:  Contaminated with lead.


DR. ALEXEEFF:  Right.  It would be a continual exposure every day, and then they would reach a steady state, and that’s how much would be added to their blood.


And the same thing would happen. . . . I note the 3 micrograms per deciliter, which is the level that we’re seeing studies come in now showing effects in IQ.  The higher level is 7, where you go up there.  Although the average child might be about 2, there are about 5 percent of children from ages one to five that have blood leads at 7 or above.


And then, finally, the top level is the CDC level, so it gives you some perspective.  And the line just shows—the purple line—if you ate candy contaminated with lead at that concentration on a continuous basis, that’s how much it would increase the child’s blood lead level.


SENATOR SPEIER:  So, if you ate candy and had food on dishes that have lead in them, all of that could add to the total.


DR. ALEXEEFF:  Right.  It’s thought that all of those exposures, in part, lead to this 2 originally.  So, it’s not clear how much of that 2 might be candy right now.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  On that point, let me just ask a question because I think that really goes to sort of the qualifier that was raised by Dr. Charleton.


Many of these families in fact have lead dishes.  I know I have them.  They’ve been handed down from my grandmother.  It is fairly likely that there is significant exposure not just from plates and frijole pots and all of the things that are used as well as the candy.  So, it is conceivable, if one took a sampling of the average family that consumes in communities the candy, as well as the pottery, that you could see a consistent exposure level on a regular basis that meet the federal or the public health goal standards.  


So, I think that qualifying whether or not there’s a real risk is really subject to a lot of criticism, and I think that’s important for you to understand why we’re coming from there.  Because I think if one, in fact, did a very focused sampling study over time, you would see that there is significant exposure in these communities, and I think that’s important for us to put on the record.


DR. ALEXEEFF:  My last slide is our conclusion that consumption of lead-contaminated candy on a regular basis daily can add to a child’s blood lead burden and can increase a child’s risk of experiencing adverse health effects.


SENATOR EDWARD VINCENT:  You know, I’m sitting up here frustrated—completely frustrated—and I’ll tell you why I’m frustrated.  Most of us up here, and probably those in the audience, we all remember Bud Abbott and Lou Costello—“Who’s on first?”  Remember that?—“Who’s on first?”  That’s what it sounds like here.  


Now, I come down here to listen to some situations.  I’ve heard about the doctors and lawyers and DHS, and I’ve heard about consultants, FDA, the attorney general.  But as I got this information—and as a matter of fact, I wouldn’t have known anything about this information had it not been for the mayor of Hawthorne, which is in my district—Mayor Guidi.  If it hadn’t been for him, I would never have heard of any of this.  Not only that, believe me or not, within my house, five miles, there must be five major hospitals:  Daniel Freeman, Centinela, Kaiser, a little company of Mary.  I mean, there’s hospitals there.  I’ve never heard of this.  I’ve never heard of this lead thing.


So, what it says here is we’re having a hearing on Mexican candy.  Then it says over here that we’re supposed to be asking the question:  Is this a serious threat?  And it says that families need to be educated.  I think we need to be educated.  I’ve been on the school board; I’ve been a city councilman; I’ve been a mayor; I’ve been an assemblyman; I’ve been a senator.  I’ve never heard of this.  Never heard any of this.


Now, I really take my hat off to Senator Ortiz and Senator Speier for setting this up, but I like they ask direct questions for direct answers.  We’ve got a problem.  If we believe this is a serious threat, we need to find out what can we do about it.  Not how it got to be a threat, but what can we do to eliminate the threat.  I’m just sitting up here listening to twenty different plays.  Who’s on first?  And I don’t know how we get to that sitting here.  


I’m going to give you another thing.  People talk about the fact of what people do up here.  These two people work endlessly.  Endlessly.  And I try to go to the meetings.  But it’s frustrating when you just hear, you know, Somebody did this, he did this, who did this.  And you keep hearing the same thing over and over.  And it’s like that thing I said:  Who’s on first?  Let’s get to the serious situation.  If it’s a serious situation, let’s find out why and what can we do to do something about it.


SENATOR SPEIER:  All right.  You just completed your testimony—correct?


Just out of curiosity, do you interact with the representatives from the Food and Drug Branch and from the lead poisoning program?  I mean, do you have quarterly meetings?


DR. ALEXEEFF:  We do not have quarterly meetings.  We do interact with many parts of the Department of Health Services, including the Food and Drug Branch.  Most of the interactions that we have is when there’s a specific statutory requirement to provide input, like for the public health goals.


SENATOR SPEIER:  So, but for this hearing, would you have interacted with them on this issue?


DR. ALEXEEFF:  My staff have interacted with them on this issue—yes.


SENATOR SPEIER:  They have.


DR. ALEXEEFF:  Yes.  But in terms of. . . . are you talking about in terms of this presentation?


SENATOR SPEIER:  No, no, no.  I’m trying to get a handle on. . . . you know, we have all these various entities within state government that have a function that has an effect or would provide added value to the function of another division or department.  Do you come together, or do you work in isolation, and but for a series of stories in a newspaper or a committee hearing not come together to find ways to work together and to provide greater public information?


DR. ALEXEEFF:  Well, we have worked for many years with the health department, for example, on the strategic planning for childhood lead prevention.  So, we were involved in that for several years.  There are a number of activities we’ve worked on.  We have not specifically worked on providing specific guidance on the lead in candy.


SENATOR SPEIER:  But you could.


DR. ALEXEEFF:  We could if asked, yes.


SENATOR SPEIER:  If asked.


DR. ALEXEEFF:  Well, we have very few staff.


SENATOR SPEIER:  All right.


Let’s go on, then, to Mr. Farrar.


DR. FARRAR:  Good morning, Senator Ortiz, Senator Speier, Senator Vincent, members of the Senate Health and Human Services Committee and the Select Committee on Government Oversight, ladies and gentlemen.


My name is Jeff Farrar, and I’m chief of the Food Safety Section within the Food and Drug Branch within the Department of Health Services.  


The Food and Drug Branch has regulatory authority for all foods manufactured or distributed within California.  FDB staff are responsible for enforcement of the state’s food, drug, and medical device laws, commonly referred to as the Sherman Law.  The Sherman Law addresses the sale of foods, drugs, and cosmetics in California and prohibits the manufacture, sale, or offering of adulterated, misbranded, or falsely advertised foods.  The Sherman Law authorizes FDB to inspect facilities, collect samples, and other evidence and to take appropriate enforcement actions to assure compliance with the law.  


FDB registers California food processors and distributors of food products, except meat, poultry, and dairy products, and conducts inspections of these facilities to assure they are in compliance with laws and regulations.  Noncomplying products, conditions, and practices are brought to the attention of the owners and managers, and corrections are closely monitored by FDB.  When voluntary compliance is not obtained, FDB initiates necessary regulatory action to compel compliance.


The department also investigates consumer complaints related to food products offered for sale in California.  These complaints often relate to foreign objects, off-odors, unusual taste, packaging defects, or mislabeled products.  Occasionally, we receive complaints alleging illness or injuries from foods, drugs, or medical devices.  These complaints alleging illness associated with a food generally are investigated by local health departments first and if deemed to be valid are referred to the department for further investigation.  The extent of the investigation is dependent upon the seriousness of the complaint and its potential public health impact.


When it is determined that the products were produced in registered California facilities, the department’s investigation typically includes further in-depth inspection of the facility to determine the cause of the complaint and to put in place measures to prevent a reoccurrence of the problem.  When it is determined that the products were produced in facilities in another state or in another country, the department works closely with, and refers the complaints to, the U.S. Food and Drug Administration for nonmeat-containing products and to the U.S. Department of Agriculture for meat and meat-containing products.


When unsafe foods are identified in California, the department has a variety of options available to ensure that the product is promptly removed from commerce at the retail, wholesale, distribution, or manufacturer level.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Mr. Farrar?  Excuse me for interrupting, but can we get to the candy?  Have you received complaints on candy, and what steps have you taken to address them?


DR. FARRAR:  Senator, we rarely receive complaints on candy.  When we do receive complaints, they are investigated.  However, samples of candy obtained at home visits by the Childhood Lead Poisoning Prevention Program and additional candy samples obtained during our inspections of candy distributors are analyzed at the Food and Drug laboratory.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Do you ever proactively go out?  I mean, there’s been a huge public awareness campaign waged by the Orange County Register on this issue over a course of years to alert us about the problem.  Do you ever on your own go out to see whether or not something like Mexican candy is in California, in an environment where it is providing a risk to children?


DR. FARRAR:  Yes, ma’am, we do. 


SENATOR SPEIER:  So, have you done that as a result of the information about lead in candy?


DR. FARRAR:  We’ve been doing that for the last ten years, and we’re continuing to do that.


SENATOR SPEIER:  So, you have done the 1,500 tests.  Is that right?


DR. FARRAR:  In conjunction with the Environmental Health Laboratory and the Childhood Lead Poisoning Prevention Branch.


SENATOR SPEIER:  But did you do that at their request, or did you do it independently?


DR. FARRAR:  Both.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Okay.


DR. FARRAR:  Just to tie up here—of over 300 candies—317 actually—that were analyzed, over 93 percent have tested below the current FDA and state regulatory limit of .5 ppm.  Twenty-two samples have tested at or above— 


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I’m sorry.  What was the percentage that you cited?


DR. FARRAR:  Ninety-three percent have tested below the state and federal regulatory standard of .5 ppm.  Twenty-two samples have tested at or above the   .5 ppm level.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, 22 out of how many?


DR. FARRAR:  Three hundred and seventeen.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  And what period of time were you testing?


DR. FARRAR:  I believe that’s over a 10-year period.


SENATOR SPEIER:  So, where did the Orange County Register get their. . . . I mean, they actually did a Request for Information, received information from the state, and then took that information, put it into a database, and came out with these figures.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  The 75 percent figure, I think it was.


SENATOR SPEIER:  They have a figure of 25 percent resulted in significant amounts of lead.  Are we just parsing words here?  I mean, you say that 90 percent of them don’t reach the 5 parts per million, but we also heard that 4 parts, 3 parts, 2 parts could be significant.  So, are we—


DR. CHARLETON:  Maybe I can answer that a little bit.


The Public Records Act request—we gave everything we had in terms of testing, testing lists, et cetera.  Many times pieces of information were duplicates, so we tried to explain.  I don’t know if I went back and counted that I would come up with 1,500 pieces of information.  I would come up with less.  And in terms of the .2, from the things that I did look at, I would say that it was about 18 percent exceeded the .2 when I did a rough count.  But that was not our regulatory level.  And again, you know, you could have a .1 and somebody doing giant. . . . we’re getting into the super-sizing issue of eating.  If you consume nothing but candy all day, you could have a very teeny level of lead in the candy and still get lead, depending on its size.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Or, if the family meal is prepared on a daily basis in much of the pottery and plates and cooking.


DR. CHARLETON:  Right.  And, Senator, if I could answer that question.  Because of the concern about candy, we have been doing a study with the Centers for Disease Control of some samples taken in Long Beach of children who were lead poisoned and similar children from same zip codes, et cetera, who were not.  It’s not been published or completely finished yet, but one of the things in the children who are being lead poisoned, there’s a very strong association of using pottery and travel to Mexico much stronger than the association with candy, even at the preliminary step.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Let me continue on that line because I think it’s really important.  It’s what Senator Speier and I—


DR. CHARLETON:  But that’s kind of preliminary, but they’re definitely the same issues.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Well, now let me ask another question.  So, you have the capacity to measure in a child the accumulation of lead from a number of sources—not just candy but also cooking utensils and travel to and from Mexico.  I would also suggest, if you have the capacity to do it. . . . I mean, I think there’s a risk of a lot of families who garden, and there may be lead in the soil either from the chipping paint in a home or from exposure to exhaust next to freeways.  My recommendation is, whatever the outcome of this hearing today is, that I think we have the resources in the State of California.  We have the technology.  The question is:  Do we have the will to up the level and quality of the measurement of exposure in children?  Not just by an individual source, because we know that there are a number of ways that this enters a child’s system.  I think it’s really critical.  I know this is preliminary information, but I suggest we even go further.  And part of it is working with the community groups who understand where these exposure entries are.


DR. CHARLETON:  The exposures are multiple, and in fact, the percentages that were given earlier by Dr. Jackson would add up to well above 100 percent, because when you go into a home you often can find more than one— 


SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, you acknowledge that measuring samples of candy, even if it’s 20 percent or less, that hit that public health goal, or above or below, still is not an accurate snapshot of the risk posed to children.


DR. CHARLETON:  It’s one part of something that could add to the risk.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Okay.  I just think it’s important for us to understand that.


SENATOR SPEIER:  The other thing that I’m somewhat perplexed by—you proudly said that we’ve seen a reduction in the number of children that are lead poisoned in the last ten years, from 1,600 to 800.  But how do we really know?  Unless there is a lead blood test taken of that child, how do we know?


DR. CHARLETON:  What we do know of the numbers of children that were found to be lead poisoned in California, even if a lot of children were not being tested, in the early nineties there were 1,600 children and 1,400 children being identified a year.  Now we’re seeing, thanks to Senator Ortiz—last year we had this test where we had over 450,000 young children blood lead tested, and we only had 726 children identified.  So, with much more testing, fewer children.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  And I think that’s the first snapshot, but I think it’s really important that we also say. . . . a lot of these children, quite frankly, number one, aren’t in preschool.  Two, they may not even be in healthcare programs in that little critical period of time in which the brain is developing.  They’re not accessing healthcare.  We know why.  California hasn’t always made it easy for them to access healthcare.  Their parents, if indeed they are aware of programs, are not necessarily into an enforcement mode in many situations.


So, part of my difficulty is we’re missing a lot of children.  Despite that one snapshot that we’re beginning to be able to measure, it comes nowhere near where the risk is to this community.  It just is really sad.  I think we need to understand, by the time a child is three, if they’ve been exposed from whatever sources, this is permanent; pretty much irreversible damage.


DR. CHARLETON:  For exactly that reason we are doing a door-to-door prevalence survey right now in Richmond to try and see if there’s. . . . in other words, if there’s hardcore populations that are not coming forward to be tested—what kind of race they are.  There was similar stuff done in the Altadena area in Los Angeles and one in Alameda this past year.  So, we’re trying to do door-to-door to get that answer.


SENATOR SPEIER:  If a child becomes lead poisoned at age 8, what are the risks or downside ramifications?  Is it still going to impact their IQ?


DR. JACKSON:  I’d actually like to make some closing comments, but I’d like to comment on this as well.


The one-year-old absorbs about half the lead that they put into their body.  By the time you’re five, you absorb only about 15 percent.  You just don’t absorb as much, number one.  A one-year-old has ten times the number of synapses—brain connections—in their brain as you and I do.  You have this immense amount of wiring that’s going on, and that’s why a very young child is much more susceptible to a chemical that gums up the brain’s works.  By age eight, it’s not good, but it is not the same level of harm that is done as done very early in life.


Some of the most interesting research was actually done among children in Boston, Philadelphia, and Pittsburgh—Herb Needleman’s studies—where they actually followed children who were poisoned at age one.  Over time those children end up with lower IQs, higher levels of juvenile delinquency, much shorter attendance at school.  I’ve done a paper where we actually estimated lifetime income reduction because of exposure to lead.  So, it’s a huge impact, and it’s very important to reduce these levels.


We’ve been arguing over .2, .1, and .5.  The bottom line is, it shouldn’t be in kids’ food in the first place at all.  


SENATOR ORTIZ:  They shouldn’t breathe it either.


DR. JACKSON:  Right. 


Now, when I was a child, the average blood lead in America was 22, and that was because all of the exposures were being stacked up, and the biggest exposure came from gasoline.  And for thirty years, forty years, we knew that gasoline was the major source of lead, and we knew that lead should not be in gasoline.  It took a long time to get it out of gasoline, and we had a tremendous reduction.  It’s amazing to go from a blood lead of 22 to a blood lead of 2 in an enormous country like this.  It took getting rid of lead in gasoline, getting rid of lead in the food cans.  Some of you may have been given formula.  My mother used to make evaporated milk with water as formula.  That can was sealed with lead.  It was loaded with lead.  And so, that’s why we’re just awash in it in our environment, and it was so important to get it out.


But the other point I want to make about this is, if you want to control lead, you’ve got to control it at the source.  Trying to go into a store and pulling up one evaporated milk can at a time is not going to protect millions of children.  You have to go right to the production site.  What we’ve learned in Mexico, or from Mexico, that the manufacturers of the candies make two varieties of candies.  One is for export and one is for sale in the United States.  But the ones that are made for Mexico that have higher levels are then brought in by families, and it’s very hard, obviously, to control what families do.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Well, they’re also, I think, exported—or imported in.


DR. JACKSON:  Right.  But there is at least more scrutiny and more awareness that the stuff coming in could be seized by the Food and Drug Branch and the rest.  We’ve got to work with the federal Food and Drug agency.  We have to work with the federal authorities in Mexico to really clamp down on this.


You know, it goes back to issues of pottery.  There are lots of other sources.  Some of the saddest cases of lead poisoning I ever saw were Latino children who had bellyaches, and the folk remedy was something called azarcon.  They would give azarcon.  It was straight lead.  And guess what one of the symptoms of lead poisoning is?  A bellyache.  And so, the child would be given more and more of this for the bellyache.  We actually have seen—I don’t remember the exact numbers—but children dying of lead poisoning from these folk remedies.  So, there’s a lot we need to do across the border.


I want to commend my boss, Director Shewry.  She has just last week went down and personally committed herself to the binational Border Health Commission.  She appears on it.  I will be attending as well, but she is the primary representative and has taken the border health issues very, very seriously.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  That’s good news.  I had heard that we weren’t going to continue that commitment.


DR. JACKSON:  She has a strong personal commitment, as do I.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  We’ll hear from the Mexican government representatives later, but I think it’s a really important part of that partnership.


Thank you.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Mr. Farrar, did you complete your testimony?  I don’t think you did, did you?


DR. FARRAR:  More or less, Senator.  I think most of it has been said.  There was a couple more lines, but it’s already been stated.  I’ll submit it for the record.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  And I think it appears that these speakers have been jumping between Panel 1 and Panel 2—you know, what is their risk and what has been done or should be done?  I actually have a few questions, but we do have two other speakers that we know are here on Panel 1.  


Do we have a representative from California Paint Council here?  And do we have a representative from the Western States Petroleum Association that decided to show today?  That’s unfortunate.  They are the ones that we certainly would like to ask.


You should come forward, but I do have a couple of questions.  Ms. Leticia Ayala and Dr. Mark Horton are also welcome to come forward.  But let me ask Dr. Jackson to stay here and thank the others that have already testified.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Actually, could we also ask Dr. Charleton to stay?


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Okay.


One of the questions I’d like to ask is where is the department—and maybe Senator Speier asked this question when I was out of the room—but where is the department on collecting from the scofflaw WSPA?  I understand the Petroleum Association has refused to pay their fees into the Lead Fund.  What’s the status of the action by the department, and what is the department’s position on whether or not they should be attempting to collect that?


DR. JACKSON:  The children of the United States paid a great penalty for the longstanding exposure to lead.  We knew that lead damaged children’s brains by 1920.  It was put in gasoline from 1920 to the late 1970s.  Probably an average reduction in IQ of every single American of 5 IQ points.  Remarkable.


SENATOR SPEIER:  You mean we’d all be smarter?


DR. JACKSON:  Our kids are smarter.  We already knew that.  


It’s a permanent deficit.  We basically have shifted the entire bell curve upward of intelligence by doing that.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Are we collecting from the Petroleum Association?  And if not, why not?


DR. CHARLETON:  In the original act in 1991, the collection and actual fee billing goes through the Board of Equalization.  It’s not through the Department of Health Services.  You are correct that the gasoline fee payers paid in part this year and not completely.  It was the first time in the billings that were issued just a couple of months ago.  


SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, you became aware of this two months ago that they weren’t paying?


DR. CHARLETON:  Right.  The actual fees go from the Board of Equalization early March, and they have to pay by April or something.  So, we’re up to June, and it’s just the last few weeks or so that we’ve gotten some additional accounting.  They’ve paid about half.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  How much are we not receiving from them that we should receive?  What is that one-half amount?


DR. CHARLETON:  Well, the total billings for gasoline this year was something like 16 or 17 million of the part of the fees.  They pay the vast majority of the fees.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, how much are we not receiving?


DR. CHARLETON:  We would not have received about 6 or 7 million.  I’m giving you ballpark figures because I don’t have that in front of me.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  What is the department doing to collect that?


DR. CHARLETON:  Well, that is something that we’ve been, actually, actively talking about and briefing our new administration on.  Some of the technical aspects of the law involved is. . . . the statute says that the actual billings and procedures and all that are through Board of Equalization procedures.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, do we, the Legislature, need to order the Board of Equalization to come in and explain why they’re not collecting it?


DR. CHARLETON:  We really appreciate your interest, and what we would need to do is. . . . because I’m not a lawyer, I’d have to get back to you on that.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Let me see if I can understand this.  They pay a fee each year—


DR. CHARLETON:  Yes.


SENATOR SPEIER:  —into this fund which creates the resources for you to do the testing that you do and the outreach that you do.


DR. CHARLETON:  Right.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Has there been any of the various persons responsible for contributing to this fund who have not contributed at all, ever?


DR. CHARLETON:  There are some paint companies that have never paid.  You see, there are procedures where they could—


SENATOR SPEIER:  Let me just ask the questions, and then we’ll get to your explanation.


So, we have paint companies that have never complied with the law.  Do we have any petroleum companies that have never complied with the law?


DR. CHARLETON:  There are some new companies that were formed that have just been billed for the first time in the past year or two, so I just can’t answer that question.


SENATOR SPEIER:  But to your knowledge . . . ?


DR. CHARLETON:  If they haven’t paid this year, then the answer for them would be “yes,” but they’re new companies.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Okay.  But for longstanding companies, virtually every petroleum company has paid?


DR. CHARLETON:  As far as I know, yes.  Certainly the major companies.


SENATOR SPEIER:  The major companies.  My information suggests that not all of the petroleum companies have paid and have never been fined or penalized.  So, part of this revolt that is taking place within the petroleum and paint industry is, Well, if you’re not even forcing people to pay that are supposed to, why should we pay?  And furthermore, we don’t like the fact that you’ve increased our assessment.  So, we’re just not going to pay you.


DR. CHARLETON:  Maybe I could explain that a little.  Because this is administered through the Board of Equalization, there are certain procedures for appeals and asking for exemptions and redeterminations.  When this is in process, they are allowed to continue to go through a series of appeals until they eventually get a Board of Equalization hearing, and that process can go on for a long period of time, and I cannot speak to all the various specifics of it.  There are some gasoline companies that have just entered California, so it would be true to say that some of them have never paid, but they were not necessarily subject to fees before.


SENATOR SPEIER:  But if this has been in effect since 1991 and there are paint companies that have never paid, I can’t believe that the appeal process has taken that long, first of all.  Secondly, my understanding is that you pay the fee, and then you appeal it, and then it’s refunded if you are sustained before the board.


DR. CHARLETON:  You are supposed to by our regulations.  I’d be happy to go through the specifics of the one or two cases with you offline, if somebody wanted to do that, but the appeals and suit and other processes take a long time.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Is it not true that you’re supposed to pay first and then appeal?


DR. CHARLETON:  In our regulations that were drafted in response to the law, we say that we will not grant an exemption or consider reassessment unless you have paid your fee, but what I can’t speak to is the Board of Equalization has a separate parallel process.


SENATOR SPEIER:  I understand that.  What is the penalty if you don’t pay the fee?


DR. CHARLETON:  Huge fines ultimately when it’s decided against you.  The one company we’re talking about, we’re talking about millions of dollars now once it’s decided against them.


SENATOR SPEIER:  And which is this company?  Absolutely—it’s public record.  Which company is it?


DR. CHARLETON:  The Smiland Paint Company.


SENATOR SPEIER:  It’s what?


DR. CHARLETON:  Smiland Paint Company.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Smiland Paint Company—and they haven’t paid ever.  Is that . . . ?


DR. CHARLETON:  That’s my understanding.


SENATOR SPEIER:  So, that’s going through the process.  They’ve never paid, and they have potential fines.  But you’ve never actually assessed those fines on them.


DR. CHARLETON:  And Senator, I’m not sure, because a lot of this stuff is under the tag of the hazardous waste law, that I really should be talking about individual companies and further information about them.  And I apologize if I have erred by giving you their name.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  We can have you actually come back because I think it’s really important that we. . . . I mean, we need to explore it today, but I think you need to determine how much you’re prepared to come back to this committee and share, and I think we need to bring the Board of Equalization in.


I know Senator Speier wants to continue, but I also want to suggest that there has been a whole discussion and debate about the Board of Equalization’s authority and its discretionary authority and the manner in which it is or is not collecting appropriately.  I think the auditor may have done a report, but there’s some other information out there that suggests that we may have to be a little more clear in the law as to what discretion and what discretionary authority the Board of Equalization has of assessing, collecting, and, quite frankly, settling some fees.


You’re not clear about who has the enforcement authority, whether it’s Department of Health Services or Board of Equalization, but we may have a problem not just in this area but across the board.  Senator Speier chairs the committee that might be the most appropriate one to bring in Board of Equalization as well.


I know there are further questions on this point, but you should be prepared probably, with all due respect, to come back with a little bit more clarity on this area.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Has the attorney general ever been approached to file an action against those outliers by the department?


DR. CHARLETON:  I can’t answer that question.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Okay.


I think what we’re trying to outline here is that, one, if in fact companies can snub their nose at government and say, You know what?  I’m not going to pay my taxes this year, and get away with it, then the whole system starts to unravel.  And that’s what’s happening here because there are some individuals required to pay who haven’t paid, and others recognize that they haven’t paid and they haven’t been penalized for not paying, and then there’s an increase in the assessment, and they don’t like the fact that they’ve had an increase in their assessment because they’re not making lead paint anymore and they’re not making leaded gas anymore.  So, therefore, they’re just, out of protest, not going to participate.  


I think we should all be very alarmed by that, and we should be very aggressive at enforcing the law, which is not happening.  And I would agree with Senator Ortiz that the Board of Equalization has really no role here.  I think this is a fee that is paid and it should be paid to the department, and if the fee’s not paid, then a fine and interest should be paid.


My understanding is, is that British Petroleum paid about 50 percent of its fee this year, and they just decided not to pay a million dollars.  Meanwhile, the cost of gasoline has gone up considerably, and we’ve got kids and families that should have the benefit of your services and aren’t accessing it because your budget has been hammered.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  And if they don’t like the law, then they should be challenging the law instead of ignoring it.  And if they’re ignoring the law and we’re not hauling them in and aggressively, whether it’s through the AG or through. . . . I mean, again, I really think the Board of Equalization needs to be here to clarify what, if anything, they’re doing or not doing.  So, that’s the remedy.  But the law is fairly clear.


What really troubles me is that we’re in this climate of this notion of somehow these job killer bills and these regulatory authority issues that California’s taken a position on and say it’s in our best interest to charge those who have a demonstrated connection and nexus under the Sinclair Paint standard to pay for the damage that’s occurring.  If they don’t like that, then they should go to court and challenge the law.  But to ignore the law and for the Department of Health Services or the Board of Equalization or the AG or whomever not to step in and say, It’s law until it’s changed or struck down, to me is equally wrong.


You’re here in front of us, but I think it’s the tip of the iceberg on this one.  It just is appalling.  But maybe it’s just because they’re poor children in poor communities and there isn’t a lot of political strength and a voice to who is harmed here.  If this were happening in upper middle-class communities, who knows what the outrage would be? 


I’m sorry.  Go ahead, Senator Speier.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Well, let’s hear from the Paint Council.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you for coming, by the way.


MS. SANDE GEORGE:  Thank you.


I just want to be clear.  On the issue of paying the fees, all of the California Paint Council members have paid the fees since the lawsuit was settled.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Do you want to clarify that—the lawsuit?


MS. GEORGE:  The Sinclair Paint case was settled.  The paint company mentioned is not a member of either the National Paint & Coatings Association or the California Paint Council.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  But they are a paint company, whether or not they’re a member of your association.


MS GEORGE:  Right.  I just want to say on behalf of our members, we polled them to find out.  We had not heard that others were not paying.  So, it was one thing we wanted to clarify.  So, just for your purposes, our members have paid, as far as I know.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  How much of the paint industry is not represented by your association?


MS GEORGE:  That I can’t tell you.  I think it’s at least the major paint companies in the U.S., and most of the major paint companies in California now are members.


Our position on the lead candy issue is it’s not our concern.  And I just wanted to bring up, because I think there is going to be some discussion on AB 2297—our concern is the exact issue you brought up with the Sinclair Paint suit, is how those funds are spent.  In AB 2297, the bill would actually allow the Lead Poisoning Prevention Act funds to be spent to regulate an entirely different industry that actually pays the fees.  The fees now go for monitoring and testing, as you had heard earlier this morning.  They are not to regulate the industry.  The AB 2297 requirements are a fairly large, brand new program that we think could eat up almost the majority of the fees, paid or not paid, that are currently in the fund.  We’re very concerned about shifting that.  And under Sinclair, there really has to be a nexus there between how the fee is used and what it’s used for, and I think regulating a completely different industry just doesn’t meet that test.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Well, but if, in fact, it’s paint in the wrapper— 


MS. GEORGE:  It’s ink in the wrapper.  It’s not paint in the wrapper, from what I understand.  


SENATOR ORTIZ:  It’s lead in the chili.  The ground chili as well.  The question is:  How does that lead get into it?


MS. GEORGE:  Yes.  I just want to make that clear because I think there is a very big concern on the part of our industry just using the fees for other purposes.  We have no problem with the department going out and regulating that, but I think you have to be careful about that nexus.


SENATOR SPEIER:  So, you’re saying there’s no paint in the labeling of the candy at all.


MS. GEORGE:  No, there is not.


SENATOR SPEIER:  It’s ink.


MS. GEORGE:  It’s ink.


SENATOR SPEIER:  And ink doesn’t have any paint?


MS. GEORGE:  No.


SENATOR SPEIER:  And paint only pays 15 percent of the fund anyway.  Right?


MS. GEORGE:  Right.  That’s the percentage.


SENATOR SPEIER:  So, arguably, from your perspective, the money that you contribute, it’s probably being used to deal with paint-related issues because the chips and the paint—


MS. GEORGE:  We don’t have any quarrel with that.


SENATOR SPEIER:  You don’t have a quarrel at all though.


MS. GEORGE:  No, if you use—


SENATOR SPEIER:  If your 15 percent was evaporated into the candy testing, that would be a problem.


MS. GEORGE:  That is our concern.  Right.


SENATOR SPEIER:  But short of that, the money that you generate is actually being used for that purpose.  And arguably, the petroleum folks would come in and say more of their money is being used to investigate your issue than theirs.  That’s their argument, of course.


MS. GEORGE:  Yes.  I mean, we haven’t made lead paints since the late 1950s either, so it’s one of those discussions that you have, and I think it’s not the forum here to have that discussion.  But I agree that if this bill were to be used for other purposes, I don’t know where you draw the line about whose money is whose.  The discussion should be whether or not that’s the appropriate fee to be used.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Well, importation fee; a fee on those businesses that are identified as actually selling a product.  I mean, there are options we can go to, but until we find that, we’re obviously concerned about protecting kids.


MS. GEORGE:  We understand that.


SENATOR SPEIER:  That raises an interesting point.  Of your programs, what percentage is focused on paint, and what percentage is focused on gas?


DR. CHARLETON:  That would be impossible to answer because of the gasoline that was put into the environment—the many huge tons and the relative proportion.  The way the 85-15 was calculated was looking at the tonnage of lead put into the environment from the late 1920s to the late 1980s.  You could argue that lead in food originally came from gasoline, in the soil, et cetera.  And a large part of our program, of course, is to prevent from any source.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Okay, thank you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Dr. Horton, are you . . . ?


DR. MARK HORTON:  Yes.  Thank you.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Actually, I guess we should take them in order.  Leticia Ayala is next, and then we’ll take Dr. Horton.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  For Panel 1.


MS. LETICIA AYALA:  Good morning.  My name is Leticia Ayala.  I’m with Environmental Health Coalition.  We’re an environmental justice/social justice group in San Diego.  We’ve been around for 24 years working with the Latino community to identify toxic pollution problems in their neighborhoods and work together to solve them.


I’m going to be passing out a packet—


SENATOR ORTIZ:  We’ll have the sergeants do that.


MS. AYALA:  It includes more information about our organization and the work we’ve been doing with our campaign to eliminate childhood lead poisoning, and prevention, including a fax sheet with information about this topic.  I also have Luz Palomino and Leticia Gallardo, our community organizers, present here, and they will be testifying under the public comment period.


We are the group that has collected candies and had them analyzed by the state Department of Health Services and found with high levels of lead.  One of the things that is impossible to tamper with is the lab results.  So, that information is clear.  Information that you find out from the labs, in part that you know, is real information.  The high levels have not been in some way made up here.  And we also know that there’s no safe threshold for lead.  We’ve already heard that tiny amounts of lead are extremely dangerous and that the damage is irreversible.


So, the question that we have before us is:  how serious?  Well, I think that we’ve already heard that it is very serious and that we need to take action, given that over the past ten years the DHS has pretty much failed to protect our children.


We know that it’s in candies, that it’s in wrappers; that children are eating these candies a lot.  They’re very popular in our community.  We’re not just talking about the children exposed to the lead from the older housing.  It doesn’t matter where they live, whether it be in a pre-1978 house or newer house.  It’s children across the board that are eating these candies.


We also know that CDC did an audit of the health department a few years ago, and they found out that 15 percent of the cases were directly linked to the lead in candy issue.  But we also know that not everybody gets tested, and we know that there’s a lot of high-risk communities like National City, Sherman Heights, in San Diego, where none of the healthcare providers are testing.  So, of course, that number that we have gives us a false sense of security that, really, the world in terms of lead is getting better.  


I want to give a clear message about the candy manufacturers:  that we are not against candy manufacturers—we love our candies—that we want to have them in our store shelves, but we don’t want any lead in them.  We have the right to be eating, just as any other children, M&Ms, Hersheys, whatever the candy product may be, without lead in it.  We also have that right.


We’re very glad to see groups, like Grupo Lorena, who are taking action, who want to have a lead-free certificate for candies.  That’s really important to see that also in Mexico people are wanting to take action, especially when we know that this is a binational issue.  It’s going to require a binational solution.  We know that the health department in Mexico is saying that you need tons of lead in order for damage to occur.  Well, we have information that proves that otherwise.  So, it’s our duty to be sharing that to the Mexican health department, which is why we can’t rely on Mexico alone to take care of this issue.


We’re demanding that DHS immediately support this bill that would solve the problem—AB 2297.  Last year we lost.  It was AB 256.  This year again we’re at a point where DHS has a neutral position on it.  This would test the candy, ban it if we have lead in them, and it would also give clear authority to remove these candies from our store shelves.  This is going to hurt their pocketbooks in Mexico—their pockets—but we know that with that incentive, they’re going to have to clean up their process; they’re going to have to go with lead-free wrappers.  We have candy manufacturers, candy distributors, like Luna in Long Beach, that are really great that are working with these candy distributors and manufacturers to clean up the process and voluntarily take action because they don’t want this to be tied to their candy.  So, they’re putting their piece to this, and we have to do the same.  We have to stop lagging on this.


We need to set up a meeting immediately.  I’m hoping that you guys can put a little pressure on today on the health department to say, Yes, we will meet with the community.  We haven’t had this meeting.  Obviously, this shows that this is not a priority.  Even after the massive media attacks—you know, this went international.  It’s not just the U.S.  Mexico,  Venezuela—everybody’s talking about this issue; and yet, we haven’t had them to say, Yes, we’re meeting to talk about how we’re going to solve this issue.  We’re grateful of these hearings because it bumps up the level of pressure, but we still don’t have anything concrete.


We know their mission is to identify and eliminate lead poisoning by the year 2010.  Well, this is a clear issue that we can easily remove.  The lead in paint is going to take us a while.  The pottery will take us a while.  But this one, it shouldn’t be in candy.


The community doesn’t want anything less than what you would want for your children.  You know, think about your children as well when you’re setting policies.  We had the jelly Poppers.  Two years ago kids were choking on these candies.  Immediately we took action.  A recall—Costco, everybody.  It worked beautifully.  Lead in candy, in our tamarindos—you know, Mexican candy—no action.  No action.


I want to clarify some things that Dr. Jackson talked about earlier, about the health advisories.  Only seven health advisories have been issued when there’s over 112 candies—candy brands—that have tested high for lead numerous, numerous, after numerous times.  So, it’s an issue.  Seven health advisories—that doesn’t do anything.  It’s not adequate.


We’re not talking about home investigations here where you’re going to go to the house and educate the parent and tell them about, Let me find out where the lead’s coming from.  No.  We know where the lead is.  It’s in candies, and the candies are in the stores.  So, we have to go and remove them off the stores; not go to people’s homes and try to find it and then make the link.


We have to go beyond being shocked.  I’ve heard from everybody:  We’re shocked.  We’re shocked.  This is a problem.  Well, let’s get beyond the shock, and let’s start to take action.  Ten years have gone by where this information was sitting in the databases in computers.  This is not adequate.  We don’t want posters.  We don’t surveys.  We don’t want any more studies.  We want to get them off our store shelves.


As we heard in Lou Correa’s. . . . Assemblymember Lou Correa’s hearing about a couple of weeks ago—Jim Waddell, the director of the Food and Drug Branch, was there—the question was:  If you find two bottles of aspirins in our store shelves with cyanide, would you remove them?  What was his answer?  Yes, he would remove them.  And what about our candies?  Zero action.  It’s just unbelievable.  


The other thing is FDA will only inspect up to 2 percent of the shipments, so that’s not adequate either.  You know, I think it’s great to work with them, but that’s not the solution.  Also, that they’re not just in mom and pop stores.  They’re everywhere in our stores.  We find them in Ralphs and Vons—Albertsons.  Go to the Hispanic section.  They’re everywhere. 


You’ve talked about one child is one too many.  Well, there’s a lot of Latino children, and they’re eating these every single day.  So, we need quicker action.


You have a plan to eliminate lead poisoning prevention by the year 2010.  This is a clear issue for you, and I don’t see why you’re not taking action.  You talk about the standards:  federal standards versus state standards versus how much lead would it take.  Well, we know that there’s lead in batches of candies.  Let’s just get it out.  I don’t understand why we have to be playing around with numbers.  That’s not precaution.  That’s not about precaution.


It’s disappointing, still, to hear that you’re trying to underestimate the problem and to not really talk about it as a problem, and I just don’t understand why, if your department says Childhood Lead Poisoning Prevention.  You know, you’re about prevention.  So, why try to decrease and say that there’s—


SENATOR SPEIER:  Excuse me.  Ms. Ayala?  You should be speaking to the committee.  All right?


MS. AYALA:  Okay.  Well, I wanted to clarify these issues because I think it’s important, because, as senators, you don’t have this information about— 


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I think the appropriate manner—


MS. AYALA:  And what I would like for you to know is that, yes, there’s other sources like the pottery and home remedies, and I think that they’re equally important, but one of the things that we would like to see is not have this competition among the sources; if we can have the discussion about the lead in candy as an important source and not try to say, Well, we have another source that’s possibly more important that we need to be focusing on.


The other thing is the issue of the funding from the petroleum and paint companies.  They do have a duty to be paying this fund.  It’s a fee that goes into the Childhood Lead Poisoning Prevention Act of 1991.  The list of activities under that act are very broad, and it says, “not limited to” these activities that we could use some funding for.  So, I don’t think that it’s appropriate for them to be able to dictate or set some kind of priorities on how the funds will be used.  


I think that the Childhood Lead Poisoning Prevention Branch should be able to freely say, This is what I need to do in order to run an adequate and effective program, and not, you know, Whether or not these funds should be used for this and these funds for that.  I don’t think that’s good policy.  And I also know that we don’t really use the funding, quite honestly, for lead hazard control work.  Not until SB 460—thanks to Deborah Ortiz—that we were able to have something in the books where we’re actually working on primary prevention and looking at the lead-based paint sources.  But we really don’t use the funding for lead-based paint removal.  We’re using it for education, the brochures as you saw, and it’s for multiple sources.  One thing that I loved hearing from Valerie was that we’re about all sources.  So, I think that’s a good thing that’s coming out of this meeting.  


And again, I think that under the new leadership of Dr. Jackson, hopefully we will have the opportunity to really work on prevention and not regretting that all these children are getting poisoned and waiting until more and more until we do something about it.


SENATOR SPEIER:  So, you want to have the candies that are imported from Mexico taken off the shelves.  Is that what you want to have happen?


MS. AYALA:  Right.  If they’re available, kids are going to pick them up, and they’re going to eat them.  We want these candies to be sold here because they’re part of our culture.  We eat them all the time.  Tamarindo is very popular.  But we want them without lead.  So, we want to make sure that if we find them, like we know there’s a database that has all these candies with lead in them, that we issue our health advisories; because with these health advisories, all the local health departments have the authority to remove them off our store shelves.  I can then call and say, Hey, guess what?  I found Chaca Chaca at the store.  Can you remove them off our store shelves?  So, our community-based groups are willing to help out and be the voices and be part of the solution, but we’re not official.  This is where government needs to help us.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Now, the department would probably say that based on their testing, it’s a very small percentage of the candies that test high.  So, what do we do in that situation?


MS. AYALA:  You have candies that test high—right?


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Right.  I think what the senator is trying to say—and I think it’s important for us to understand—is, one, if we have authority.  We don’t have it, and we should have it.  We’ve had this discussion with Senator Speier on whether or not to recall tainted meat in California, whether or not we had the authority.  I think we should have the authority to pull and recall, and I don’t know that anyone has said we absolutely do, but we should.  But even if we did, as the senator has suggested, and you have suggested as a remedy, how do we know which ones to pull unless we sample the full universe?  You know, sampling is a function of local public health officers of the state.  I mean, do we sample every store and every source and every product all the time?


MS. AYALA:  That’s a good question, and that’s exactly why we’re hoping to have a meeting with the Department of Health Services so that we can talk about what this program will look like, what’s the protocol, how many candies need to be tested before we can say that this is a problem.  You know, we’ve seen them issue health advisories on candies where they’ve only tested this candy once and they issued health advisories, where you have other candies that have been tested numerous times— 


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Let me interrupt you, Ms. Ayala.


MS. AYALA:  We have to discuss that and find that out.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Let me interrupt you.  You’re asking for a meeting with the department to establish a protocol, and that may be possible.  It sounds like they suggested that they’re having meetings.  I think there’s a willingness to work with the community in designing an appropriate protocol.  But even if that appropriate protocol is designed, I think it’s really important for us to understand there’s a bit of a conflict and a contradiction.  Unless we sample 100 percent of every product entering the U.S., which is impossible to do, we are not going to be able to support free access to all products from Mexico on a regular basis against an affordable, practical sampling program.  So, I think that’s really important for us to understand and you to understand.  I mean, recall authority ought to be exercised.  The question is:  Which product, which batch, what time, and what store?  And that’s a really huge task.  


I would feel safer, with all due respect for the enjoyment of the product if it’s safe, is I’d rather protect kids and err on the side of any product, whatever protocol’s agreed upon.  I think there’s a willingness to meet and establish that community protocol, and maybe Dr. Jackson could go on the record on that.


DR. JACKSON:  Number one, I’ve heard a number of requests for meetings.  Let me personally commit that I will go to San Diego.  I will meet with the community.  I would hope to have the county health department, the binational commission, and others there and would be open to do that.  Number one.


Senator Speier, you brought up meetings with Cal/EPA.  I’ve been struck by the number of silos that exist within state government, and one of my real goals is to begin to break down those silos, and I will commit to you that we will have quarterly meetings with Cal/EPA on a whole variety of issues.  I mean, there just is lots more than lead that we need to be talking about.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Chrome 6, perchlorate, low-level radioactive waste.


DR. JACKSON:  Exactly.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  We run into this all the time.


DR. JACKSON:  So, I will commit to that.  I will commit to fixing the website.  I think it is clunky.  In this day and age, people get their information from websites.  There’s a lot we need to be doing around just fixing our overall information technology, and the website is one thing.  The results of our testing is on the website, but it should be available to anyone.  That’s public information, and that’s an easy way and not terribly expensive way for people to get information.


I’m just going to tell you my one resistance.  I worry about the lead program.  It’s often pulled in many different directions at once.  If that child’s got a blood lead of 20, there’s a good bet that 10 of that is coming. . . . or 15 of that’s coming from paint, and 3 of that’s coming from the dishware that they’re using, and maybe 1 or 2 points are coming from the candy.  It doesn’t mean the candy’s unimportant.  But it means if you’ve got a limited program with limited resources, you have to go after where the biggest threats are.  


That said, open dialogue with the community, working with the community to figure out how to deal with it, is right.  Ninety-three percent of the candy so far has tested fine.  You sure don’t want to shut down and remove a source of enjoyment for the population.  We’ve got to figure out a right way to deal with this, and it’s really going back to the source.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Let me ask you this, though, Dr. Jackson.  And this was before you came on as the head.  There’s been seven advisories that have gone out.  What is the power of an advisory if it’s a notice that is heard by virtually no one?  And what value are we really providing in terms of health and safety to the public?


DR. JACKSON:  You know, we have to do advisories—that’s our job—but it’s not enough.  We could have advised people forever in 1970 about lead in gasoline, but until society made a decision—We’re not going to have lead in gasoline—we all had high blood leads, and they didn’t drop until we dealt with lead at its source.  And the same was true with paint.  You can go after individual homes, but we eventually had to get lead out of the paint that was being used, and then it began to go down.  The same with food.  You have to go to the source.


SENATOR VINCENT:  I’d like to say this, and then I have to go.  What you just said, Doctor, it’s a bad statement, and it’s too bad we have to accept that.  When you said with our resources what we had to do—in other words, you’d rather get shot by a cannon or a .45?  You’re still dead.  You know, it doesn’t matter.


And let me say this before I have to go.  Leticia, I’m so glad you came up here before I left to hear somebody saying what you just said.  


And another thing, in our city, in one of the cities in my district—and the mayor’s here now—what he’s been doing and what we’ve been doing is the person who works for him and another guy who works for me is Pablo Catano.  He’s a councilman in the city of Hawthorne.  Mayor Guidi is here.  They took it off the shelves.  They took it off the shelves.  And you know what?  When they took it off the shelves, there’s going to be some action for it.  It may be wrong, or it may be right.  There’s going to be some solutions because they took it off the shelves in the city of Hawthorne.  And I’m glad they came up here.  As a matter of fact, I’m going to Hawthorne now to eat some candy.  [Laughter.]


Thank you very much for having me here.  I’ve got to get going, guys.  You guys are doing a great job.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you, Senator Vincent.  As always, you’re here for the informational hearings.  I appreciate it.


I think we’re just going to jump in.  I appreciate Dr. Jackson’s willingness, and I think you heard that, Ms. Ayala, which is important.  And I thank you for that.  And I thank you also for the caveats on how we can focus on our limited resources.  They shouldn’t be as limited as they are.  We ought to have all the resources that are allowed under the law; so, we’ve got to deal with the problem about collecting uncollected fees.  But I agree with you in terms of targeting where the most return and protection of health is for these children.  


I respect what you have done.  You have been a crusader here.  Very few people would have persisted as long as you have with as little response.  But I also want you to be open to some ideas.  We’ve got to have the Mexican government come forward at some point because we’ve gone Panel 1 and 2 without them coming forward.  But you also have to understand that if the department protocol with input from public health officers and others that are involved say, You know what?  It’s not just candy, and we ought to do these three things that are manageable with candy, including possibly recall, which I think ought to be the authority, but you also ought to understand that we have to be cognizant of the other sources of entry.  You know, cookware.  Cooking ware is really high, especially if you cook with things like tomatoes that are acidic that leach out.  These are really, really in some cases more problematic than even candy if a child is exposed on a daily basis.  So, we have to have that be a part of an effective program.


Secondly, the dynamics in a place where you’re exposed to lead or lead’s in the soil—how do we do healthy gardening?  I don’t know about your family, but we always had a garden with my grandparents and my parents.  It was just a part of what we did as a community, and I still do it.  But we have to be really cognizant that that’s part of the solution as well.


And we also have to think as a legislature—maybe even on a federal level if it’s appropriate—more effective USDA enforcement at the border of these points of entry for the products.  Testing ought to occur before they come into our state—period.  And if that’s not feasible, how do we assess a fee within our limited authority as a state on products from another country? 


This may not be what the Mexican government wants to hear, but the binational health program is really a wonderful model to address because it deals with health on both sides of the border, and it’s a key part of the solution.  Up until today, I didn’t realize we were going to continue with that program.  So, I’m really happy to hear that we’re committed to that program on a regular basis.


But those are solutions that go beyond what we’re talking about on recall.  I think recall ought to be available.  I think testing ought to be available on a more widespread basis.  But I also want you, Ms. Ayala, to be open to the idea that we can do more and we ought to do more, because by just tackling the candy, we are not going to address this problem, I assure you.  I don’t need a response.


It’s not insignificant when the issue is raised about the uses of the program and the source of the fee.  It’s been litigated for years.  I’m heartened to hear that we are using the dollars beyond paint sources and that the program envisions a broader program, and out of that we may indeed be able to achieve a Vargas bill, but let’s not underestimate that our hands have been tied in the Legislature for years.  We litigated even assessing the fees, and we will relitigate every time there’s a challenge to it.  So, we do have to be very careful that we can keep the program based on the nexus requirement that’s under the law.


So, those are just some cautionary things as you go into these meetings that they’re willing to do, that you be open to those other ways of addressing it.


Senator Speier?


SENATOR SPEIER:  I would like to just go back to Dr. Jackson.  You mentioned that you have to send out these advisories.  Who are they sent out to?  What is the force of law, or are they purely informational in nature?  Do you have recall authority?  Could you go out into stores today and recall the candy if it tested at a high level?


DR. JACKSON:  Senator, I’m new enough in this job that I’m going to need help from both of the programs.  I am sure that if it’s an imminent hazard—cyanide, if you will—that certainly they have the right to go out.  I’m going to ask Jeff to help me out on the legal authority.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Let’s be open to the notion that “imminent hazard” may be posed by constant exposure of lead in children.


DR. JACKSON:  I agree.


DR. FARRAR:  The question, Senator Speier, as I understood it, had to do with recall authority at the state level.  Currently, all recalls for all food products are voluntary, not mandatory.  I believe this issue has come up in the discussions of the mad cow case in Washington as well.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Can we make it mandatory?  Are we precluded from federal law from ordering you to exercise— 


SENATOR SPEIER:  For certain products we may be in a position to do it, and for certain products we may not.  Right?  We’re preempted, arguably, on meat but not necessarily on candy.  Right?


DR. FARRAR:  I’d rather not comment on that.  I think there’s some legal aspects that need to be considered, and I’m not an attorney, so.


SENATOR SPEIER:  What do you mean by “legal aspects?”  In the background there was some reference made that there was an email sent by someone who suggested that, We really cannot make this available to the public because we might get sued by a candy company.


DR. FARRAR:  I don’t recall that specific statement, but we don’t consider whether or not we’re going to be sued when we take action.  Our efforts are—


SENATOR ORTIZ:  The chief counsel from DHS is here, I understand.  Can we get some clarification from the chief counsel, whomever that may be?


DR. FARRAR:  Can I finish my response to Senator Speier?


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Oh, please.  Yes.


DR. FARRAR:  Your comment about fear of lawsuits, I don’t know exactly where that came from, but we’re not focused on fear of lawsuits when we make our decisions.  We’re focused on protecting consumers.  Lawsuits happen daily.


SENATOR SPEIER:  That’s good to hear.  All right.  To me, that’s a threshold question about your authority.  Can you or can you not recall products, and what products can or can you not recall?


DR. FARRAR:  All recalls are voluntary.  The state or the federal government currently does not have recall authority for any food product.  They’re all voluntary at this point.  However, if we become aware of a food product that is adulterated under the definitions in the laws and regulations, we can take action within California to embargo, to seize, that product; to put temporary restraining orders in place against those firms; to work with the county health officers at the local level to remove the product from the shelf.


SENATOR SPEIER:  All right.  Hold that thought.  With that information, when you send out an advisory, the advisory says, This product has tested seven times to have high levels of lead—Chaca Chaca or one of those.  Why wouldn’t you just seize that at that point?


DR. FARRAR:  If the levels are above state and federal regulatory standards, we do take actions.  We do embargo thousands of cases and have over the years—thousands of cases of adulterated candy.  However, we have to know where that candy is in order to embargo it.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Okay.  Here’s “State Health Department Warns Consumers Not to Eat Chaca Chaca, a Lead-Contaminated Candy From Mexico.”  Is this one of the advisories, then, in effect?


SENATOR ORTIZ:  That’s FDA—or U.S. Food and Ag.


SENATOR SPEIER:  It says FDA on top.  [Sidebar discussion with staff for clarification.]


So, in this case, in March of 2004, you sent out this press release.  It was a voluntary recall.  Correct?


DR. FARRAR:  Yes, ma’am.


SENATOR SPEIER:  At that time, though, you had the authority to seize Chaca Chaca candy in California if you wanted to.  Right?


DR. FARRAR:  Where that candy was found to be in violation of the .5 ppm state and federal regulatory standard.



SENATOR ORTIZ:  But you, yourself, found it to be in violation.


DR. FARRAR:  Actually, the Chaca Chaca recall was based on FDA’s laboratory findings, not on state findings.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, wouldn’t they then allow us to recall as a state if they established it exceeded the federal standards?


DR. FARRAR:  I’m sorry, I didn’t hear you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Wouldn’t that then give the State of California the authority to recall if the federal government determined that it exceeded their standards?  Were we fearful?


DR. FARRAR:  We still do not have recall authority.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Let me tell you how serious this is.  


I was in Mexico in March.  I picked up candy for my kids.  I think I picked up Chaca Chaca for my kids.  It’s a very natural thing for parents to do for their kids all the time.  If we have put out a release that says this is not good—this never gets seen by anyone.  I never saw this.


DR. MARK HORTON:  Ma’am, may I make a comment here?


SENATOR SPEIER:  Please.  Yes.  You’ve been waiting patiently, Dr. Horton.


DR. HORTON:  Dr. Mark Horton.  I am the local health officer in Orange County.  I have my own testimony, but it’s just in response to this.


I want to let you know that in response to the state health department’s warning that was issued to customers about Chaca Chaca, our local environmental health specialist under my authority went out and visited 1,000 food establishments and worked with them to remove Chaca Chaca from the shelves.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  And that’s under your emergency authority as a health officer.



DR. HORTON:  Right.  As a health officer, I have broad authority to do whatever is necessary to protect the public from significant public health threats.  And under this situation, this is still not mandatory.  We’re not taking regulatory action, but based on this advisory, we have the authority to go into local retail, and we have done that in each case effectively to remove this candy from the shelves.


SENATOR SPEIER:  So, you’re an individual who takes his authority and acts upon it.  How many public health officers in California read this recall press release and took similar action like you did?


DR. HORTON:  I cannot speak for the other health officers.  I can speak in general that these are all professionals and very concerned about significant public health threats, and my guess would be that many of them read them and took similar actions in their local jurisdictions.


SENATOR SPEIER:  If they read them.  Do we know that?  


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I know we have representatives for health officers.  I don’t know if you’re prepared to respond.


UNIDENTIFIED:  I don’t have that information.


SENATOR SPEIER:  No.  Does the department have that information?  


DR. CHARLETON:  We know that they could get communicated through our local programs, which are in the health departments throughout the state.  They are issued in both Spanish and English, and there are many spin-off news articles that frequently come up with each of those.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  But you don’t check to find out what the counties have done with that information that you forwarded to them—county by county?


DR. CHARLETON:  We do meet sometimes with the California Council of Local Health Officers.  The lead program has presented and discussed things with them.  I can’t speak to every action taken.


SENATOR SPEIER:  You know, let me tell you why this is a little bit frustrating.  I know you are well-intentioned, and please understand that we’re here trying to help you be as effective as you possibly can be in doing your jobs.  This is a press release that went out that said, “Consumers in possession of Chaca Chaca candy should dispose of the product or return it to the place of purchase for a refund.”


I mean, that’s a very strong statement.  You’re basically telling people get rid of it, don’t use it, and yet, that word never gets really disseminated outside of getting to the public health officers.  And based on the aggressiveness of a local public health officer, they will or will not do what Dr. Horton did.  And so, then where are we?  Are we really totally reliant on the local health officers to do this, or are we in a position to do something bold and effective for the betterment of the entire community in the State of California?  That’s the question.


I mean, that’s a pretty strongly worded statement, wouldn’t you say so, Dr. Jackson?


DR. JACKSON:  I think that’s an excellent statement.  Number one, I think we have to deal with the Mexican authorities and make sure that they’re controlling it at the source.  Number two, almost all of our actions are done through the local health jurisdictions.  They’re our arm.  They are the ones that actually have the boots on the ground, if you will.  Number three, I’ve been stunned, when I came back after ten years, that our Food and Drug group and our Environmental Health group is at about 40 percent of the staffing it was ten years ago.  So, you have to sit there and decide very carefully how you’re going to take on things.


SENATOR SPEIER:  So, if they are your arms, couldn’t you send this out in a manner that says, We highly recommend that you inspect all of your local retail establishments and remove Chaca Chaca?  I mean, it’s really left to the interpretation of the local health officer.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Can we hear from the Health Officers Association representative, please?


MR. BRUCE POMER:  Bruce Pomer with the Health Officers Association, California.


This is precisely one of the issues that we were dealing with in the hearing yesterday about state leadership standard-setting:  Why should you be disadvantaged because you’re living in one county as opposed to another?  And this all comes down to, Senator Ortiz, Senator Speier—also the hearing on Tuesday—the Corrections hearings.  We need state leadership to set standards so that this particular program is done on a statewide basis, and it doesn’t matter what county you’re in.  That’s the problem we have.  Otherwise, how do we set priorities?  We’ve got millions of issues that we’ve got to deal with that are just as hot as this particular issue.


Now, fortunately, we have an opportunity to have a rebirth in something that we had 30 years ago when Department of Public Health internationally—California’s Department of Public Health—was considered the best in the world.  And with Dr. Jackson here, I don’t want to put him in a difficult position over expectations because there’s a lot of work to do and all the fine professionals here, including our  Dr. Horton, but we’ve got a big task ahead of us in terms of it’s not only candy, it’s not only lead, it’s a whole range of public health programs that have to be dealt with in order to create a climate where we can move forward.  And I’m glad Dr. Jackson is here.  We’re very enthusiastic as a group about his appointment, but they’re very difficult issues.


DR. HORTON:  Just as a footnote and complement to that, as local health officers, we will continue to do what we need to do to protect the public.  On the other hand, there’s no question about the fact that we would be greatly assisted by stronger and clearer guidelines from the state on when and in what circumstances and with what authority we can intervene.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  And this is really why I want to hear from legal counsel, the chief counsel, from the Department of Health Services on two points.  One, what is the scope of authority of our Department of Health Services to recall any product?  Number one.  Number two, if in fact we’re going to issue a federally authorized or facts in a state-issued notice, if there’s any liability at all with the State of California exercising recall authority, wouldn’t that protect us from that recall authority?


MS. BARBARA YONEMURA:  Senator Ortiz, Barbara Yonemura, Department of Health Services.


I’ll start by saying that I’m going to need to come back to you with part of the answer, but in terms of our overall authority, I will need to come back to you in part because we do have the state-federal relationships.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Correct.


MS. YONEMURA:  Depending upon the product, there are areas where the federal government is predominant.


As to the question regarding—


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Are you suggesting in terms of an interstate commerce clause conflict problem?  My recollection is, one of the exceptions to the interstate commerce clause is either the health and safety or the public safety authority of the state can go beyond the federal standard.  Hopefully, you can come back and clarify that because I think there are rare and narrow instances in which we can go beyond if we’re protecting the health and/or public safety of our residents.  That’s an exception to the interstate commerce clause bar.  


MS. YONEMURA:  And I agree with you; that is the general principle.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  And if, in fact, that’s the general principle, I think we would be protected in issuing a recall from a state level, particularly when we rely on federally issued information in this instance in which this notice was, “We incorporate it by reference of federal information.”  That ought to have given us the green light to do a recall.  As much as I trust and respect the local health officers, it really is a function of their board of supervisors that allow them to exercise their emergency authorities.  The nature of the county—I mean, if you’ve got 2 percent of the children in a community who happen to be immigrant children and consuming this product, I don’t know that there’s a willingness by that board to allow that health officer to act, even if it’s 500 children who are going to be permanently damaged.


So, I really want you, at some point, to come back and really give us an overview of what our ability is to go beyond the federal government’s preemption of the issue on recall authority, number one.  


MS. YONEMURA:  I’ll be glad to do that and to look at specific existing state statutes.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.  Great.  


Well, I thought there was a defense here using the federal information in the announcement; that that would then give us some protection to go out even if we were barred.  By relying on those standards, we would have been protected a bit.


The other question is going to be on the Sinclair question.  We’re going to come back, and we’re going to have the discussion about, one, is Department of Health Services contemplating any legal action to force the collection from the petroleum companies that are not complying or the paint company that’s not complying and paying their fees?  What’s the status, if anything, of any actions by Health Services on that issue?  Can you speak to that?


MS. YONEMURA:  I don’t know that there are any pending right now, but I’ll be glad to address that at a later time.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I think we’re going to want to hear along with Board of Equalization whether or not the department’s going to go forward and try to collect.  


MS. YONEMURA:  If I may, Senator, in terms of liability, just to be clear—


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Ah, yes, the email.  Are you familiar with the email suggesting that we fear liability if we recall here?


MS. YONEMURA:  I think my colleague’s response was correct.  Well, I know it was correct in that the department goes forward with whatever it needs to do without worrying about whether or not we’ll be sued.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  But are you aware of this email that allegedly was out there saying we can’t do anything because we’re in fear of being sued?


MS. YONEMURA:  I’m aware of the email.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Okay.  


MS. YONEMURA:  And I mention liability also because you referred to liability in terms of our attempting to enforce a standard that the federal government had established and had done the testing on.  Other than liability because we might have been attempting to enforce a law that’s not within our jurisdiction, there would be no other concern.  That is, if indeed we are following state law, we don’t have a concern that someone might choose to, whether their action is well placed or not, to sue us.  There’s no liability for enforcing state law.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, hopefully you can clarify internally in the department, whether or not you give us names, that we were not setting ourselves up for liability on that email reference and then come back to the committee and explain whether that’s been addressed or educated in the department.  I mean, it appears that was a bar to exercising any kind of recall authority, if at all, and therefore, it should be clarified, I suspect.


MS. YONEMURA:  I read that email, and I don’t view that message as being a bar to the department’s taking action.  That was one employee stating a concern.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Has that employee been educated thus far that that’s not the case and ought not to be?


MS. YONEMURA:  I can’t speak to that.


SENATOR ORTIZ:   Okay.


DR. FARRAR:  Senator, we will clarify that.  My limited understanding is that there may have been some comment in reference to meeting a burden of evidence when taking enforcement actions.  For instance, these are not always clear-cut, black and white decisions.  If we test one batch of candy and it’s         .51 ppm, we test another piece of candy in that same batch and it’s .25 ppm, we need to resolve that issue before we proceed.  


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Okay.


MS. YONEMURA:  If I may, Senator Ortiz, Senator Speier.  That’s certainly correct.  Additionally, in publishing information, our office has given the caveat that that information, if it’s to be published, it should be published with disclaimers and caveats that testing was done, perhaps on a limited sample, and information may be old, so that when we put volumes of information out to the public, that information isn’t misinterpreted.  That would be our only caveat.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.  


Senator Speier, you were out of the room, but I asked legal counsel to come back to us at some point—or give us a memo—and clarify whether or not we can exercise recall authority if it’s in our health and safety or our public safety interest as a state; that we are not precluded under the interstate commerce clause.  So, she will come back and brief us on our authority, if any, under that exception.


MS. YONEMURA:  Will do.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I appreciate that.  Thank you.


You know, we really need to hear from the Mexican government.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Dr. Horton, though, isn’t it?  Dr. Horton just needs to give his testimony.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Okay.  Dr. Horton.  


DR. HORTON:  Thank you.


My name, for the record, is Dr. Mark Horton.  I’m a board-certified pediatrician with 18 years of practice experience.  I am currently the physician/health officer for Orange County, California, and deputy agency director for public health in the Health Care Agency.  


At this point, I feel like my testimony is somewhat of a footnote.  Let me be brief and make a couple of key points.  


First of all, I want to reiterate what Dr. Jackson has brought to your attention, that on the one hand it is absolutely appropriate.  And I salute both Senator Speier and Senator Ortiz for bringing this issue to the attention.  On the other hand, we don’t want to forget the huge amount of progress we’ve made with respect to lead poisoning.


When I started practice 30 years ago, it was a weekly event to have a child in the hospital, not with the blood level of 10 or 15, but 40, 60, 80, and with active, real neurological symptoms that required emergency treatment with dangerous medications to treat it.  I would submit that today it is not uncommon for a resident to complete their practice without ever seeing that experience; ever seeing that in his three or four years of training.  


As a public health official, once again, I recognize the great work that’s been done to document the significant decrease in the average body burden of lead in the country which has reflected itself in the low number of children that we do find with lead exposure.


Now having said that, once again I would say what’s been said here multiple times:  One child with lead poisoning is too much, and one product out there that contributes to lead poisoning is one product too many.  No question about that.


I think it’s a matter partly of, once again, public health being victim of its own success, much as we’ve done many times with vaccines.  The very fact that we have been so successful with lead poisoning, I would submit that the average healthcare provider out there does not really feel today that we have a significant ongoing problem with lead poisoning.  Whence, the reason that in spite we advise the fact that we have a policy that every child should be screened for it in one way or another—for lead poisoning—at 12 and 24 months, my sense is the majority of children are not getting that screening as needed. 


The other point I wanted to make, and that I think has been alluded to here, is that irrespective of what you decide to do at the state level—whether it’s what standard you set, what embargoing legislation you put in—that as Dr. Jackson mentioned, where the rubber hits the road is at the local level.  It will depend effectively on having an effective local public health program.  


Let me just briefly talk about what that constitutes.  It’s really three very simple components.  First is the ability to continually identify children with lead poisoning at the local level.  Secondly, it’s having the capacity, working with guidance from the California Childhood Lead Poisoning Prevention Program, to intervene and educate families about the risks both in identifying ongoing exposures and to prevent exposures.  And then finally, working with the Department of Health Services to implement and effect local protective actions at the local level as we’ve discussed:  the ability to go out and remove candies or other edible products or any other consumer products that we know is at risk to children.  


I want to salute the state in that they have adopted the policy of ensuring that all children that are getting health insurance under publicly funded programs—our CHDP program, our Medi-Cal, and our Healthy Families Program—are required to be tested at 24 and 12 months of age.  All physicians are encouraged, for all children, to do at least a verbal screening for lead poisoning at a 12 to 24 months.  This needs, absolutely, to continue.  


But we also need support for our ability to respond to high blood levels that are reported to us by physicians and by laboratories.  This means support for local public health nursing and environmental health specialists which consistently as a team go out and do a home visit on every child that’s been identified with an elevated blood lead to try to identify the cause of that, remove that cause if possible, and educate the parents.  Irrespective, once again, of what we do at the state level, we need to ensure that we maintain a support for those types of things.  And then finally, we talked about the ability to support local actions to implement advisories, warnings, recalls, at the local level.


Finally, in terms of what we need to do, I think that science clearly supports establishing a zero lead standard for candy and other edibles or as close to that as possible.  When we are setting environmental health standards, it is appropriate to set a level once we’ve identified that in fact below that level it is safe.  In the case of lead, the science is there.  There is no safe level of lead, and so, I think we ought to be looking at, as many people have said, removing all lead or as much as feasible from any consumer product.


Secondly, local health officers and environmental health directors, as we’ve talked about, need a strong regulatory framework both to identify and monitor the lead content in candies and similar products as well as the authority to remove such products when they have been identified.


Thirdly, we need to make sure that we have a mechanism to ensure adequate funding for these programs and services at the local level.  We do get support from the Childhood Lead Prevention Program for our public health nursing and home visits.  We don’t get support for environmental health specialists to go out on a routine basis to monitor and intervene.  We need to address that issue.


And then finally, while any degree of lead in a consumed product should be unacceptable, there’s little information, as we’ve talked about, about how the relative contribution of lead-contaminated candies versus other sources of lead in the environment contributes to the lead burden and therefore is responsible for lead poisoning.  Therefore, it is not appropriate, as it’s been mentioned here today, at this time to divert resources devoted to known causes of lead poisoning to deal with lead-contaminated candy.  The bottom line is, we can’t borrow from Peter to pay Paul to take care of this problem.


Thank you very much.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Dr. Horton, you said that it’s very important to continue to identify children who have lead poisoning.  What percentage do you think of the children in the state are poisoned and yet are unidentified?


DR. HORTON:  That’s very difficult to say.  I think what we can estimate just overall is if you look at those categories of children, once again, that are funded with publicly funded programs and the number of children that we have identified through that program, estimates are that in some cases as little as 20 percent of those children are in fact being tested appropriately.  When they are tested, we’re finding that 1 to 2 percent of those children have, in fact, elevated blood leads.


The point is, I think you can say whatever number of children we’ve identified through that program, you can probably multiply that number by four or five and say that’s the number of children that are out there that have not, to date, been identified.


SENATOR SPEIER:  And the cost of the testing is how much?


DR. HORTON:  I can’t tell you the cost.  It is not a significant burden.


DR. CHARLETON:  It is absolutely true that a bunch of years back, 20 percent was the screening rate.  Many children who get tested who would be part of Medi-Cal were probably getting tested through CHDP in the past, particularly until we started moving them into Medi-Cal through the Gateway.  Medi-Cal managed care did a quality assurance measure in 2000 and 2001, and in the first year 32 percent of the children had been screened by the time they reached 27 months.  And the second year, it was 42 percent had been screened, and they felt that represented underreporting because of the other testing.


Our target population are children in government-assisted health programs.  There are 500,000 children born each year in California, and about 40 to 45 percent of children would be eligible for government-assisted health programs.  So, we estimate of one- and two-year-olds there are somewhere around 400,000 to 500,000 children who would be in those programs.  We had 450,000 blood lead tests reported to us last year.  Now, not all of them are one- and two-year-olds.  Some of them are older.  There’s a subset that’s in the under-six.  In the values that are low, many of these results are coming in on paper, et cetera.  We’re separating the individual children, but we clearly found with your bill a lot more tests are being done than had ever been recorded in the past through CHDP or Medi-Cal.


So, we believe that there’s a lot more screening going on than that, but clearly we have groups to still reach.


SENATOR SPEIER:   What’s the cost?


DR. CHARLETON:  It’s $22.50 to run a test if medical providers do the stick in their office, because many children get the slip but never make it to the lab.  So, there’s a loss from asking for the test to it happening.


Two years ago there was a special supplement to give in for medical providers through CHDP and fee-for-service Medi-Cal where they would get an additional, I think, about 17 to 18 dollars just for drawing the blood.  And then the test itself was close to 20.  So, if the lab draws it, it’s twenty-two five; otherwise, it could cost 30 to 40 dollars a test.


SENATOR SPEIER:  And what’s the treatment once you’ve been diagnosed with high blood leads?


DR. CHARLETON:  Well, the first thing is to prevent it.  The second thing is to prevent ongoing exposure so the levels don’t get higher.  You can decrease absorption through the G.I. tract—as we mentioned, young children have high absorption—by making sure the children are sufficient in iron and calcium.  So, you have some simple sources.  If the level is very high, you could do chelation to get it out of the body.  


SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, basically filtering.


DR. HORTON:  I want to remove my comments and yield to the more up-to-date and complete data but still conceding the fact that there’s still a reservoir of patients.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  And also, let me add to that point because I think it’s really important.  I think we’re still missing a lot of children not getting in through those sampling methods, mostly because if you’re not eligible for Medi-Cal, or even if you’re eligible—but we under-enroll, as we know, particularly in certain populations that may be eligible but don’t get in.  CHDP has always been one of the programs that could potentially—it’s now Gateway—but it is the one that doesn’t ask the questions that may create some challenges for some communities.  But I think we’re missing a whole universe of children who are particularly at risk because they don’t usually enter these programs.  I think it’s great that we’re getting better numbers, but we have to always be cognizant that a lot of the kids that are at risk consuming these candies, living in these communities, crossing the border on a regular basis, are not in these programs.


DR. CHARLETON:  That’s why we’re doing the door-to-door approaches in several places in the state to figure out who’s being missed.  I can’t answer anything about Richmond now.  My recollection about Altadena, in Los Angeles, was that about 300 children were tested.  Only a couple came up high, and both of them were previously known. 


SENATOR SPEIER:  Dr. Horton, what should the state do to make each of you as health officers more effective in doing your jobs?  


DR. HORTON:  Just to reiterate, I think the most important thing that we need is stronger leadership and direction from the state setting guidelines, standards, and conditions under which we can take action at the local level.  I think that’s the single most effective thing we can do:  setting the standard appropriately to allow us to take that action.  


I want to put a footnote on and compliment the agency, the Department of Health Services, however, in removal of another huge barrier to lead poisoning.  And that was, just a few years ago it required a blood sample to be drawn by a needle, which in some cases is very difficult in a one- to two-year-old child.  Several years ago, the department, working through local health departments, implemented a new technology that allowed blood tests to be done by finger stick, and that was a huge improvement implemented through the Department of Health Services to remove a major barrier to lead poisoning testing.


SENATOR SPEIER:  I have one more question for Dr. Jackson on this area, and then we need to hear from the Mexican government.


You know, we focused on candy today, but we’re focusing on it, really, as an example of what needs to be looked at in many other areas.  I worry that the importation of pottery, cosmetics, other kinds of products that are from countries where they don’t have the same standards relative to lead, are bringing in products, and we, unwittingly, as consumers are purchasing these products, thinking that they are meeting our standards, and they aren’t.  


I know the costs associated with this would probably be significant, but at the very least, we have got to do a better job informing the public on kohl pencils and imported cosmetic products and imported pottery, because I don’t think we have a handle on how much lead is really there, and I don’t even think it’s necessarily just in low-income communities.  I think it’s significant there, but it wouldn’t surprise me if we went out and started looking around at what’s being imported from European countries that maybe don’t have the same standards, that the people are unwittingly being impacted and not knowing it.  


DR. JACKSON:  I spoke a little earlier about silos, and I think what’s interesting is the silos don’t end up dealing with what people really need in many situations.  And so, if you look at consumer products, there’s an agency in the federal government that does consumer products that’s separate from the EPA and separate from the health agencies and all the rest.  The consumer product list of lead poisoning—the WWJD chains that kids were sucking on turned out to have lots of lead in them.  They were made internationally.  Toys that were given out with fast-food product meals painted with lead.  The curtain weights on blinds loaded with lead, and the blinds themselves, window blinds, basically treated with lead because it’s a good chemical to keep them from degrading in sunlight.  The issue of importation—clearly, that’s a federal issue.  They have tremendous authority in this, and we’re going to have to really work more aggressively with the federal agencies.


Our colleagues in Mexico, my colleagues, and I know my counterparts in Mexico, have tremendously difficult issues that they’re dealing with:  refineries that are putting lead into the atmosphere and communities with very high levels.  But they have been very open to work with us.  


I kept talking about paint five years ago, and my colleagues in California kept saying to me, No, Dick, 20 percent of our lead poisoning is now what we call cultural.  It’s from products that you have just listed.  


So, I absolutely agree with you that we need to be paying much more attention to these international sources.  I mean, almost everything we buy nowadays is from overseas, and it’s a new reality from where we were 10 years ago.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Okay.  Thank you so much.


I understand we have Mayor Larry Guidi from the city of Hawthorne who’d like to be a part of the committee’s process, as well as let me welcome Alejandra Bologna, who is the Consul General of Mexico here in Sacramento and also her representative, to come forward and find a seat.  I understand Jose Luis Flores, who is the director. . . . the ejecutivo de Evidencia de Fisco.  Welcome.


CONSUL GENERAL ALEJANDRA BOLOGNA:  Thank you and good morning for the members of the committee.  Dr. Flores Luna, he has a statement—


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Oh!  Who do I have a card from?  Excuse me.  Octavio  Flores is the managing director of Lorena USA; and Jorge Coronado, are you also here?  Please come forward.  We were going to put them on the second panel.  Let’s have the second panel present, and then we’ll just move into the third panel.


CONSUL GENERAL BOLOGNA:  So, I was just saying that Dr. Flores Luna, he has a statement of what’s doing in Mexico and how we are working with the Food and Drug Administration at the federal level.  He will say it in Spanish, and I will be translating his paragraph.


DR. LUIS FLORES LUNA:  First of all, good morning.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Good morning.  Good afternoon, almost.


DR. FLORES LUNA:  Good afternoon, Senator Ortiz and Senator Speier.  I’m going to speak in Spanish.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Okay.


DR. FLORES LUNA:  [Testimony given in Spanish.]


CONSUL GENERAL BOLOGNA:  [Interpretation]  Mexico is concerned and committed in preserving the non-hazardous conditions of food products to be offered to the public, regardless if their final destination for conception is in Mexico or abroad.  The federal commission for the protection against health hazard ________ from the Mexican Secretary of Health is closely working with the U.S. Food and Drug Administration in cases of possible lead contamination of Mexican candies.


We recognize that in 1994 there were remains of lead in the wrapping of some of the candies.  We have worked on that for years since then and proof of it is the enforcement of the Mexican official norm that prohibits the use of lead-based inks in products that will be in direct contact with consumers, especially children.


We have overseen the process of production and wrapping all over Mexico.  Nowadays, we are compliant with national and international standards, including those from the FDA—Food and Drug Administration.


With our counterparts from the U.S. Federal Drug Administration, we are taking action.  We are engaged in the change of lab test producers and have, of course, to keep a close supervision on Mexican candies through coordinated methods.  For that purpose, we will be using a laboratory duly accredited by international norms.


As a result of this close monitoring, we will be sharing information in the spirit of mutual recognition and trust developed with the Food and Drug Administration.  


Our trust in the Mexican industry has been proved by their production process.


DR. FLORES LUNA:  I would like to add something in English.  The commitment of ________ of the Mexican government is to protect our people against possible exogenous risk to their health, regardless the location, and this is a commitment, I’m really convinced, and also from our department.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Gracias.


I think we’ve translated most of it, I believe.


CONSUL GENERAL BOLOGNA:  I think it’s everything.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.  And I appreciated the commitment and willingness to work with USDA, or FDA, but I think we’re really anxious, hopefully, to see what the actual mechanisms are for enforcement through the Mexican government.  I believe we have industry representatives here that have apparently internally addressed some of the exposure levels as well.  I believe that that’s what the next speakers are going to address.  But at some point we’re going to want to hear what is the end result.  Is it not allowing transport unless there’s regular inspections that are jointly shared by the two sides of the border to assure that what comes into our country is safe and, of course, what is sold in Mexico is also safe?  I mean, at some point we’re going to want to know what that regulatory framework looks like.  An enforcement mechanism, I think, is helpful.  So, I do appreciate that it appears that there has been some discussions, and I want to thank you for your time here today.


Senator Speier, I don’t know if you had any questions?


We do have Octavio Flores and Jorge Coronado, and you’re both from Lorena.  But let’s take a moment—we had some unexpected speakers, and I think we have the mayor of Hawthorne, if you have a brief comment, and then we have Ms. Alison Bodor at the next point.  So, if you would like to come on the record and weigh in on the record, I think it’s helpful because we’re both going to be wrapping up real soon.


MAYOR LARRY M. GUIDI:  I apologize that the email that I received to be on the agenda, I received it very late from my staff.  I was in Sacramento at the time.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Well, we’re glad you’re here now.


MAYOR GUIDI:  First of all, I appreciate Senator Ortiz and Senator Speier for hearing us.  I sent personal packets to all 14 senators on this committee.  Each one received a packet with a poster of the poisoned candy being sold to our children—English and in Spanish.  I also sent a copy of the letter, a health alert letter, I sent to 200 merchants in Hawthorne telling them to take it off their shelves.  I’ve read. . . . this is like one day of documentation that I received about the health threat to our children.


Now, Hawthorne is 60 percent Latino, and I take it very serious; so does Councilman Louis Velez, who’s here today, and also Councilman Pablo Catano, who basically told us some of the things that go on in Mexico:  how they export two types of candy:  one for the American market where they try to bypass our border with a minimized lead in it, and then there’s the candy that they sell locally, which he’s experienced.  


I appreciate this gentleman coming out today worried about his industry making a buck.  I will challenge him by giving him this poster today and tell him to immediately boycott this candy from crossing our border.  He has the right to do that as being part of the ministry.  Our health department—I stood in shock listening to a group of men and women up here today, the outburst from Senator Vincent saying you had close to three-quarter’s of a million dollars in salary sitting up in front of you at the beginning of this hearing and none of them could give you a straight answer.


I challenge you to call anonymously; don’t give them your real name.  Call the FDA and the DHS and all these different health departments.  They blow you off.  They blame the Senate and the Assembly for cutting their budgets; they’re always understaffed.  And I want to tell you something.  What bothers me more than anything, when the city of Hawthorne went through a budget crisis and we eliminated departments and positions, we ended up with better customer service to the public than filling the bureaucracy of these departments.


Websites—I’ll tell you, websites don’t work.  Sixty percent of my community cannot afford the Internet.  The other 50 percent cannot afford a computer.  We have an illiteracy problem in most of our community.  I’m talking to you about the trenches of my city and my surrounding cities that the senator represents.  Most of these children or their parents can’t read English or Spanish.  My mother, who’s an Italian immigrant, still can’t read English.  So, to try to say produce more pamphlets, you’re giving somebody an opportunity to make a buck off the state.  I took action.  I wasn’t afraid.


Let me tell you how I got involved with this.  It was really odd.  I’m reading the Daily Breeze.  On the very back page, a little paragraph on the bottom, it said, “Mexican candy holds a threat to our children.”  I read it and couldn’t believe it.  I go to a council meeting; I make it public.  All of a sudden we’re getting flooded with phone calls:  Hey, what are you going to do about it?  This is crazy.  We never heard about this.  So, I sent out a letter.  I did a couple of things.


I’m at the Medal of Valor and I’m talking to my police chief about, Hey how many people are taking this off their shelf?  The gentleman sitting next to me happened to be a Channel 9 reporter.  I didn’t know that.


At the end of the day, I get a call saying, Hey, I'd like to talk to you tonight at City Hall.

This all happened in one day.


I heard you talking about Mexican candy.  I just did a story on Sunday.

I go, Oh, who are you?

He told me who he was.  Okay.  I didn’t know who he was.  He shows up to City Hall on Monday night with a live feed ready to go.  It showed on CNN; Channel 2; Channel 9.


This has been going on since 1993, and you’ve had the same bureaucrats sitting in front of hearings telling you what you want to hear and not give you a straight answer.  The one gentleman—Horton—said he has the authority to go out.  We restrict restaurants that have an A, B, or C rating.  We constantly penalize businesses in this country.


I was in the international shipping business for 25 years.  I saw what came across.  What they would do is they’d flood our market—5,000 or 6,000 containers.  If they got caught, oh well.  You have UL listing.  No electronic product can come into this country until it’s tested by the importer.  The importer pays for it.


If the Mexican candy manufacturers want to continue to send candy here, set up an agency at the border, that you test it and they pay for it.  These people that keep hiding behind, You’re cutting my staff, that We don’t have enough people, you know what’s going to happen?  Let them pay for it and if this gentleman wants to go back and start tomorrow.


But I’ll tell you, I sat here in the back of the room ready to walk out of here because I sit at council meetings.  I listen to the lawyers and my staff give us the runaround because what they’re hoping to do is that this will be pushed down the road a little bit longer; everybody will forget about it.  And the only one who made sense here was that young lady who has made it her mission to protect her people.  If you really want to protect your people, you’ll take action.


The Senate—this board can go down to the Assembly.  I sent the letter to the governor.  You think the governor responded to me?  No.  He never sent one; not  Thank you, I received your letter, asking him to immediately stop this candy at the border.  You want their attention?  You want Mexico’s attention?  Stop it at the border.  You want to see how fast his programs will be implemented?  


Some lobbyist or some candy firm that I was threatened by, because I made this a big deal, saying, Oh, you’re going get sued.

I said, Sue me.  I’ll see you in federal court.

What are they going sue?  Are they going to go to federal court and admit that they’re poisoning children in the United States?


So I’m a little passionate about this.  And after hearing this young lady’s testimony to see how serious this is, Mr. Correa’s. . . . unfortunately, I missed his hearing.  But you have the power.  You’re the Senate.  We’ve elected you to put your foot down and say, You know what?  Encourage this health department, the FDA and DHS, and the rest of the m-o-u-s-e that have this bureaucracy that keep attacking our legislators and blaming them because they’re cut.  If they are good managers, they’ll find a way to stop this.


I’ll tell you, I can show you faxes that they received through Freedom of Information from different doctors that keep reporting how bad the candy—


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Can we get a copy?  We’re happy to share that with the committee members.


MAYOR GUIDI:  Dr. Kennelly, chief of food safety units.  I’ll be more than happy to leave this.  There was another guy named Joseph Horton who finally, I guess, left.


This is all on the website for the Orange County Register.  They’ve received on their public records a lot of copies of emails telling the FDA and the DHS and the L.A. County Health Department, You’ve got a serious problem.  But you know what they hide behind?  Oh, our staff’s been cut.  We don’t have time.


We did health testing.  We do safety fairs.  We find a way because, I want to tell you, as my family came to this country that was afraid to deal with the police or courts, they shied away.  When we did the census in Hawthorne, a lot of people didn’t answer their doors.  We know we have converted garages with six or seven families.


Councilman Velez and I personally went to all the local stores, the mom and pops.  In the morning we’re standing in front of stores watching kids buy the stuff before they go to school.  They eat it at lunch, and then they eat it after school.


These guys are saying, Well, this great chart up here says I have to have so many things in a day.  These kids, as we’re speaking right now, wasting the taxpayers’ money, I’ve just probably poisoned in our city by not doing anything 11,000 kids.


I’m sorry.  I’m very passionate, but I think you need to make a decision today.  It’s great that he came.  He has a list of candies.  Everybody knows who it is.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Let me just clarify.  He’s actually a representative of the government, not a candy company representative.


MAYOR GUIDI:  That’s even better.  He can stop it at the border tomorrow.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  We need to get to these, and I really do appreciate your passion and what you’ve done there, and it is a model, and that’s not to shortchange you.  We’ve got to wrap up, but thank you.  We will share that information if you give it to my staff.  We’ll make sure it gets copied.


We do have three speakers left, two from a company, but let’s have the representatives from the confectioners come forward or speak next.  And then we’ll close with, hopefully, a company that has instituted some changes that I hear are positive.


Thank you, Mayor.  I do appreciate it.  We may have a follow-up hearing.  It’s up to Senator Speier to determine whether we can do some more damage here.


Welcome.


MS. ALISON BODOR:  Thank you.


My name is Alison Bodor, and I’m with the National Confectioners Association.  Our association appreciates this opportunity to comment on the issue of lead that has been found in some Mexican confectionery products.


NCA represents more than 700 companies that manufacture, supply, and distribute candy in the United States and internationally.  The safety and wholesomeness of candy products sold in the United States is our number one priority.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  What’s your relationship to companies?  Do you act as the recipient of the importer to enter this country of the Mexican candies?


MS. BODOR:  No.  We are a trade association, so we represent the interests of candy manufacturers in the United States and abroad from a variety of different perspectives:  in public policy issues, trade relations.  I do regulatory work.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  What can you tell us about your representation of Mexican candy companies here in the U.S.?


MS. BODOR:  We have over 300 manufacturing members in our association.  The majority of those are based in the United States.  However, some of them do have operations in Mexico.  I believe nine are Mexican manufacturers only.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Any of those that are listed in the report as containing lead in their products?


MS. BODOR:  Yes.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Which companies are those?


MS. BODOR:  I don’t have a list of those companies.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, tell me what you’re doing to have you represent those companies and the products that are entering California’s borders.


MS. BODOR:  We as an association are very committed to working with our colleagues in Mexico.  To address the issue, we have sent advisories to our members alerting them to the issue, giving them information from FDA, letting them know how serious it is.  We’ve met with FDA.  We’ve also met with the California Department of Health Services and offered our resources, our scientific and technical expertise.  We are in the midst of trying to plan a seminar in Mexico later this year on good manufacturing practices as well.  So, we are determined to help our colleagues as we can.


To that extent, maybe I can mention some of the aspects, some of the good manufacturing practices that American manufacturers take very seriously and that by law we must follow when we manufacture a product.  Some examples of that include not allowing lead into manufacturing facilities whatsoever; not to be used, for example, to fix machinery and not to be used in equipment.  Also, lead cannot be used in wrappers that come into contact with candy.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  But how do you control that with the companies that you represent that are from Mexico?  Are you going in and inspecting those nine companies or so that you represent?


MS. BODOR:  It’s not our job to represent or to inspect those companies.  That’s really the job of the Mexican officials or FDA.  Our message is once the product gets into the United States, however, it must meet U.S. federal standards.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  And how do you assure that?


MS. BODOR:  Again, we let our members know— 


SENATOR ORTIZ:  No, I understand that.  I’m very clear, but I think it’s great that they are the standards that you have for your association, but they’re meaningless if you’re not assuring that those you represent are meeting those standards.


MS. BODOR:  Well, they’re not association standards.  They’re FDA standards.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Well, the question then is, if the California Legislature were to pass a law that required that all imported candy met those standards, would you support it?


MS. BODOR:  Yes.  If that standard is set by the FDA.  We are very adamant and strongly support the FDA as the body to set a standard that is allowable in candy and all foods.  And the reason for that is that FDA is uniquely qualified to estimate exposure from all different possible sources from food, all foods, as well as from air and other environmental sources.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Then why are these products getting into California if FDA is doing such a great job?


MS. BODOR:  I didn’t say FDA was doing such a great job of enforcing.  I said I believe FDA should be the organization that sets the standard for what allowable levels of lead should be in all food, including candy.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Well, let me suggest something to you.  I couldn’t agree less with you on FDA’s abilities from time to time because what we find here in California, they don’t move because they are muzzled often by Congress or an administration from doing what they think is appropriate from a professional standpoint because of political pressures.  And oftentimes, it takes states like California to pass laws that then forces the federal government to act.


One of the more recent examples, from my experience, is ephedra.  They had  a regulation back in the mid-1990s, and then Congress muzzled them.  They didn’t pursue it, and it wasn’t until California passed a law banning ephedra that they got serious about it.  So, sometimes they are hampered by political overtones that impact their ability to do the good science and do the good recommendations.


MS. BODOR:  Well, I can’t comment—


SENATOR SPEIER:  All I’m saying is that California oftentimes acts first and then the FDA acts.


MS. BODOR:  That is true.  I think that FDA, nevertheless, is still the group that is most qualified on a national basis to set a standard that will allow all companies and all regulators and international governments as well to follow and to work together.  I think as individual states set up separate regulations, it becomes more and more difficult to work together to achieve a standard that is attainable.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Let me ask you this question.  We have this fund in California to deal with lead poisoning, and those companies that have actually been responsible for the lead coming into the state are paying into that fund.  If we impose a fee on those candy companies that produce candy that use chili or tamarind, would you support or oppose that?


MS. BODOR:  We would support testing of candies that are brought into the United States.  We would support that those products must meet the USFDA regulations.


SENATOR SPEIER:  And how do we pay for that?  We’ve already been told by the paint and petroleum industry that we shouldn’t be using their fees to test for candy.  So, would you support a fee imposed on candy manufacturers so that candy is tested?


MS. BODOR:  I would suggest that, rather, only those candies or those products that are problematic be tested.  And I think that if we look to FDA in the future with some of its new authorities under the Bioterrorism Act, FDA will have more resources and will be able to target those resources more effectively on products that are problematic.


SENATOR SPEIER:  You didn’t answer my question.  Would you support a fee on candy manufacturers that use chili or tamarind so that we could test those products since that’s the link to lead?


MS. BODOR:  We would support that those products be tested.


SENATOR SPEIER:  And you would support that the manufacturing industry, the candy manufacturing industry, would pay for that testing, or should the taxpayers pay for that testing?


MS. BODOR:  Those products should be safe before they enter the country.  And if they’re not safe, they should be removed from shelves.  I mean, we wholeheartedly support FDA’s levels.  We wholeheartedly support that every product coming into the United States must meet FDA standards or be removed from product shelves.  So, whether those manufacturers are paying for those tests before they come in or whether it’s the state—I mean, I can’t suggest that all of our members would pay for that.  But for those companies that are bringing those products in, I would think that they, themselves, would want to test their own products before—


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Well, the USDA hasn’t exercised recall authority in the State of California nor has the Department of Health Services.  So, that’s a wonderful, conceptual objective to support recall, but it’s not been done up to this point in California.  Therefore, it’s somewhat meaningless unless we fund a program to prevent them from getting in, as we all agree is the ideal solution.


MS. BODOR:  We also agree that that is the ideal solution.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  But it’s not even within probability, let alone possibility.  Anyway, I appreciate it.  I don’t know if you completed your testimony.


MS. BODOR:  No.  Let me just make a couple of points.


One is that, as I understand, the bill right now would set a zero tolerance level for lead in candy.  We understand the intention behind that; however, we want to make clear that zero level is an impossible level to obtain.  Lead occurs naturally in the environment.  It is in most foods.  To that point, FDA has a study called the Total Diet Study where it monitors lead and other elements and contaminants in the food supply.  They test over 320 foods.  The majority of those foods do contain small amounts of lead.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  You’ll have an opportunity to testify on the bill proper when it comes to the Health Committee.  So, just in the interest of time, we have two other speakers, plus public comments.  We hope that you’ll come back when we actually hear the bill in committee because it’s not before us today.


MS. BODOR:  Okay.


Then, with the lead, I would just make the point, then, that it’s naturally occurring and that manufacturers do take a lot of steps to make sure that lead is minimized in their food products.  American manufacturers take that very seriously.  We do have specific manufacturing, and particularly by working with our ingredient suppliers, to make sure that those suppliers provide only top-quality ingredients and that we monitor those ingredients and audit them periodically to ensure that they are meeting our specifications.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  But you don’t audit the foreign-country products that are entering the U.S. that contain high levels of lead.


MS. BODOR:  Those manufacturers that manufacture responsibly in Mexico should be testing their ingredients on a regular basis to assure that the ingredients they get meet their own specifications.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  But they’re not.  I mean, that’s why we’re here today, and your association represents them.


MS. BODOR:  Our association represents some of them.  Our association does not represent the large majority of Mexican candy that has been problematic here.  We are nevertheless offering our resources to help as ever we may with Mexican manufacturers who are not members of our association to help educate them on some of these good manufacturing practices that they should implement.


SENATOR SPEIER:  How would you do that?


MS. BODOR:  We would work with the Mexican industry to advertise that.  We’ve also asked the USFDA to participate with us in the seminar.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Well, that’s a very productive and constructive statement you made if in fact you act upon it; if in fact you develop a whole plan and have a group that goes down to Mexico and educates and informs the candy manufacturers in Mexico of your standards and the kinds of things they should be doing in their plants.  But short of that, it’s not—


SENATOR ORTIZ:  It’s illusory.


SENATOR SPEIER:  So, are you going to do that?


MS. BODOR:  Yes, we are.  Yes, we are going to do that.  And just to clarify, they are not NCA standards; they are U.S. federal standards.  So, we would be educating manufacturers on the USFDA regulations.


SENATOR SPEIER:  That’s great.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  And we’ll see the products come in, unfortunately, unless somebody enforces it.


Okay.  Let’s hear the representatives, Señor Octavio Flores and Jorge Coronado.


MR. OCTAVIO FLORES:  Good afternoon, Senator Speier, Senator Ortiz, and members of the Health Committee.


I first want to thank you for giving us the opportunity as a company to speak, to come here and to speak, and probably the most important among all things is to speak up of the humongous confusion that’s being created into this whole thing with the information that came out of an article; an article that shows some information that, as you clearly heard, doesn’t really match some of the federal and governmental numbers.  


So, I just have to say that based on the fact that this information is out there, we as a company have a duty to also get into communication with everybody and try to come to a point where we can also give some points in order to make some things clear.


First, Lorena USA, even though we’re part of Grupo Lorena, Lorena USA is a U.S.-based company.  We behave as a U.S. entity.  We all live here.  Some of us are U.S. citizens.  We work and develop our products to be introduced here in the United States.  So, we don’t behave as a foreign company, and we don’t feel       like—


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Do you have a manufacturing plant in the U.S. and one in Mexico also?


MR. FLORES:  No.  We have manufacturing plants in different parts of the world.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Okay.


MR. FLORES:  In the U.S. we basically behave as. . . . we import and distribute and provide some marketing.  But probably the most important thing is that we do share as a company the same views that you have.  We care about children and with the same rigorous and vigorous ________ as you do.  I have two children myself, so I do care about it.


Getting more into the comments, we produce Pelon Pelo Rico.  I have to say that for the record because, even though there is clearly enough evidence out there all over that shows that our product has been meeting for many years all of the FDA and health department numbers, no matter what, they are there.  You have probably that information in your packages which makes things, I’ll say, unfair; not illegal but unfair.


With that in mind, I will say that we recognize that there might be some of the products that do not comply.  Unfortunately, I cannot speak for other companies.  I speak for our companies.  But the fact is that not all products are the same.  In Spanish, we say _________________:  Not every company or product should be measured with the same stick because there are good companies and there are bad companies, and we have to recognize that.  Without our recognition, we feel that the consumer is being affected.  Why?  Because there is a confusion there.  They don’t know which one is fine.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I would like to know, what is it you did that puts you in that category of not—whatever the levels are—of not having lead in candies?  Tell me what those practices are that you put in place in your factories.


MR. FLORES:  I will mention the fact that the FDA—and I have to recognize that because we have been working with the FDA.  And in working with the FDA and having the FDA as the referee in this case, a referee that works with the consumer, with the American population, that’s the referee that we and everybody sees to work up on, and every action you take is basically with that objective.  So, having the FDA as the central member, it’s a terrific concept, and I think that should be the source of the whole, I will say, a set of ideas in order to improve this thing—having the referee, the resources and everything; basically the resources to get things done.


But along with that, actually, we propose and we share some of the comments made by the NCA because the NCA being a national organization that works, obviously, in the interests of the manufacturers along with the FDA.  We believe that it will work in the best interest of not only children, consumers, but the industry.


So, along with them, I think it is up to each company to work amid those standards, whatever—


SENATOR ORTIZ:  What is it you did to make sure?  Did you test every product source?  Did you check the machinery?  Tell us what you did well and why others can’t do that.


MR. FLORES:  There are many things that we did, but one thing is that we do test every product.  And we have our proposal out there because we really want to be open as much as possible in that regard.


Do you want to make a comment?


MR. JORGE CORONADO:  Just a comment in the manufacturing area.  I want to—


SENATOR ORTIZ:  And your name for the record?


MR. CORONADO:  My name is Jorge Coronado.  


What we are doing, constantly doing, is screening the materials coming, making good business practices at the company, having a standard.  The process is standardized for our manufacturing process, not just for the candy coming for the United States but also the candy going from Mexico and several other parts of the world that we are selling the product.


So, basically what we’ve been doing is being a conscious company in our practices even though that may be more expensive than just produce or make the product with all that care.  


But, at the end, what makes us being there is that, well, we’ve been selling products in the U.S. for more than 10 years now.  We’ve been working really near of the FDA and the Health Department for those years.  Several screening methods and practices for going to different laboratories is what we regularly do and everything based on what they have been defining as an authority.


Also, for ourselves, the product when it’s crossed through the border is randomly checked by the FDA.  That’s something that happens regularly.


SENATOR SPEIER:  When you say random, how often is that?


MR. CORONADO:  Well, it was previously maybe once every two months, let’s say, because when you begin to export, you have a very focused screen on you, and they stop everything.  When you begin to have a good record on crossing products without any problem, I wouldn’t just say lead, but different problems as microorganism and different things, they give you, I wouldn’t say an open door, because it’s not that.  


MR. FLORES:  It’s like a good credit.


SENATOR SPEIER:  They pass you.


MR. CORONADO:  And then, when you are there, they still screen the product for lead on a regular basis.


What is happening now is that based on all that material out there, information and the problem that has arised that we are discussing now, is that they increase the testing, even though that they know us.  They are checking us regularly even though that they know the company.


SENATOR SPEIER:  So, how often are they testing you now?


MR. CORONADO:  Right now it should be about every month, every month and a half at most.  I would say at least.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Tell us about Pelon—


MR. CORONADO:  Pelo Rico.  Pelon Pelo Rico.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Right.  It appears in cases that there are a number of children that were poisoned as a result of the lead that was in that candy.  And there’s been testimony by your company that says that you don’t believe it’s a problem, that it tests clean, and there have been incidences when it has tested clean.  So, there are incidences when it doesn’t test clean, and incidences when it does.


MR. CORONADO:  Indeed, they report in the article you will read, and that’s quite interesting, and that’s why we were quite concerned.  And I have to say—


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Let me just ask in a more narrow way.  We have information that says 11 out of 99 times it tests—out of 59?  Eleven out of 59 it tested in excess of whatever we determined is or isn’t the standard.  Do you think 11 times out of 59 is acceptable?


MR. CORONADO:  That is false.  


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Okay, clarify the facts, then.


MR. CORONADO:  And I will clarify.  Hold on a second.  I will clarify because how high is high?  That’s why that article, it’s confused.  And you just heard—I’m not saying this alone—you just heard some person from the FDA and the health department.  You could see the records.  The numbers were always under the FDA regulation.  We were always under the FDA regulation, and they took records from 1994.  I could assure you that every single record of those ones that they talk about meet the FDA range as an accepted one.  When they say high, well, if 55 miles per hour, by going to 54 you will be high or not—


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Let me ask you—the 11 times that this article and this information says it tested high, what did it test at?  What amount of lead exposure?


MR. CORONADO:  The information we get from the FDA is pass or not pass.  


SENATOR SPEIER:  No, no, no.  This was a test that the Orange County Register did on this candy, and they tested it 59 times, and 11 times it came out at a high level.  Have you talked to them then?


MR. CORONADO:  We have talked.  We haven’t seen the result where they show that we are above the FDA number.  Actually, we requested that information.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Let’s presume for a moment that they’re not telling a lie.  Let’s just presume that as a newspaper they—


MR. CORONADO:  Well, no, the fact, if you go into the Internet you will see the results they did.  Pelon Pelo Rico, in all of those cases, was under the FDA recommendation.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Was it at 4?


MR. CORONADO:  Four.


SENATOR SPEIER:  It was 4?


MR. FLORES:  Yes.


SENATOR SPEIER:   Well, 4 is high.


MR. CORONADO:  I mean, in the Internet. . . . well, it’s under the FDA regulation.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Okay, but see, this is the game of semantics we’re playing.  Right?  Because we know the FDA’s actually looking at reducing it.  We know that based on some of the testimony here this morning that 2 parts may be too high in some cases.  So, the fact that it’s at 4 is under FDA, you’re right.  It’s not under the state standard.


MR. CORONADO:  But I will invite everybody to see the dates.  They took 14 years or so.  I mean, I could show you numbers from the—


SENATOR SPEIER:  So, you’re saying that more recently you have not had those kinds of testing results.


MR. LOPEZ:  I would like to complete that exactly what you were saying is that that information has a length span of 14 years.  And in some cases that information may be 10 years old from now.  


What I want to say is that we constantly and currently are well below the standards.  Well below the standards.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  The federal standards.


MR. FLORES:  Exactly.


UNIDENTIFIED:  And the state standards.


[Cross talking – inaudible.]


MR. FLORES:  I would like to clarify that.  Also, well below the state standards.


MR. CORONADO:  And for the record, it is important just for the record, we have documents from the health department where in 1994 they recognized that the samples they took to run those tests were contaminated.  And we do have that information from the health department.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Let me ask you—how long has it been since you’ve had these new practices in place in your factories?  And I think that’s important, because if you’ve done a good job in the last five years and none of these tests are in the last three, or whatever, I think—


SENATOR SPEIER:  And let me say before you answer, we are very grateful that you’re here.  It takes a lot of courage to come up and testify at a Senate hearing, knowing that we’re looking and scrutinizing your product, and we appreciate you being here.  


MR. FLORES:  Well, actually, the practices. . . . what I want to say is that we’ve been kind of working as a continuous process.  I wouldn’t say it’s a year or three years or five years.  I’m sure that the last five years at least the numbers coming out of any analyses made by us or an outside laboratory, not just Mexican-authorized, but in the U.S. territory—otherwise, we do regular screening—have come clean and below the norm.  I mean, the process has been a constant process.  And I’m sure that even though I can’t speak by the whole industry, we’ve been working also with the health department in Mexico to understand rules and to comply also there.  We are not just saying that we could take care of the product here.  The product in Mexico is also important for us.  At the end, they are all kids. 


But, again, a lot of noise—let me say it that way—has been come around Pelon Pelo Rico because it’s a very famous product.  It’s everywhere.  Definitely is a very famous product; tamarind flavor, I would say.  So, at the end, anything that has to do with candies when it’s related, even though they are not talking about our company, always the press releases or maybe the image on TV are ours.  That’s a problem for us.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Because it’s a brand identity.


MR. FLORES:  Exactly..

SENATOR ORTIZ:  You know what?  I want to reiterate what Senator Speier said.  We thank you for coming forward, because I know it’s not comfortable, and maybe if indeed you’re setting the industry standard, then others will follow.  And that’s the big piece here, that we have little to no control over as products enter the U.S.  But I thank you for that.


I believe we allowed for public comment.  I don’t know if we have public comment.  Is there anybody?  We are short on time, but I want you to be able to have your time.  


We want to thank you all for being here, and you’re on the record as doing really great things.  So, if we see something and we get information to the contrary, you’re going to have to come back and explain that as well.


MR. FLORES:  Okay, thank you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you, and thank you.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Thank you all very much.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Let’s have the public come forward.  I have a flight to catch, and I understand Senator Speier’s got to run.  We want to be able to allow you because you’ve been so patient sitting here throughout all this.  Thank you.


MS. LUZ PALOMINO:  Buenas tardes.  


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Buenas tardes.  


MS. PALOMINO:  [Speaks in Spanish.]


TRANSLATOR:  And I’ll be translating.  Her name is Luz Palomino.  She’s with Environmental Health Coalition.  Community organizer.


MS. PALOMINO:  [Continues her testimony in Spanish.]


TRANSLATOR:  I’m here representing the Latino community in San Diego including families with children and pregnant women that consume these candies daily.  And these are the favorites of many of us.


Do you all have a favorite candy?  So, my question to you is what will you do if you found out that your favorite candy had a toxic chemical in it?  We’re very shocked that these candies continue to be sold.  The question is for the Department of Health Services.  Why haven’t they taken action and have permitted this poison to be sold?  


The message that I bring from the community is what are we waiting for? How many more children do we want to get poisoned, or do we want our children to die so that we can take action?  We don’t think it’s just that our children suffer something that’s preventable.  This shouldn’t be happening.  


As a community organizer, I have been working in the communities for seven years informing about all the sources and the hazards.  From all the health service that I’ve done, most people don’t use the pottery and don’t even know about the health. . . . the home remedies.  I feel that Dr. Jackson’s comment is saying that we’re at fault; we as parents are poisoning our children.  We worked a lot so that the community stops using the olla de barro, and also, we now have a lot of funding for lead hazard control work.  The families have the information.  


What we want is these candies not to be sold, period.  


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Okay, thank you.


TRANSLATOR:  She wants the health department to support AB 2297; that these candies are lead-free and that kids can consume these; that we don’t use our kids as lead detectors.  Their health is a priority and has no cost.  We want zero tolerance.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Gracias, Señora.


MS. LETICIA GALLARDO:  [Gives her testimony in Spanish.]


TRANSLATOR:  Good afternoon, my name is Leticia Gallardo, community organizer.  I’m representing the Latino community in National City.  I visit a lot of families and have had the opportunity to inform them about the lead in candy issue, the hazard that it represents.  


The community is very concerned.  They want to know why these candies are still being sold; why they sell in the ice cream trucks or stores.  They keep eating them at piñatas and fiestas.  Knowing that they have lead is not sufficient.  We need the government to take action to put a stop to this problem, so we hope that the senators will support AB 2297.  We hope that it passes immediately to protect all the children’s health.  We want zero lead in our kids.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.  


SENATOR SPEIER:  I’ll just close by saying thank you to all of you who have participated in this hearing.  I think for both Senator Ortiz and myself it has been very enlightening, and in many respects it asks more questions than it answers, but that’s part of what this process is all about.  


I want to thank the Childhood Lead Prevention Branch for participating.  I think you have recognized that we need more.  We need probably more staff in your operation, but we need more aggressive regulatory function from the branch.  And I think we need to rely very heavily on our local health officers to implement what you recommend, but I think you’ve got to be specific.  I don’t think that sending out blast faxes that simply create an alert is sufficient.


I think that this is a crisis of sorts.  It’s a crisis not just for candy; it’s a crisis for all imported products that are either ingested or come in contact with food.  And I think we really need to look at everything.  I know that takes money and takes time, but it’s also a huge health risk.  Nothing should be crossing into our borders that does not meet the standards that we’ve already created in this state.  I think companies that want to do business here in California will rise to the occasion if we impose the standards on them.  If we don’t, then we’ll continue to have the kinds of stories that have been reflected in the testimony today.


So, I do believe that we will have a subsequent hearing.  We’ll ask the Board of Equalization to come in to find out where your money is and ask the petroleum industry and the paint industry to come forward.  And if they are reluctant, we’ll subpoena them to find out what makes them think they’re above the law.  And then we’ll move forward and try and make this program as effective as possible, but it really is going to extend beyond childhood lead exposure.  I think it’s going to be something that’s going to have to question the importation of all products and the impact on lead for the general population as well.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you, Senator Speier.


I think it’s clear that Senator Speier and I agree, that as the testimony unfolded, there was certainly more and more questions; the question about the Board of Equalization as well as what, if any, regulatory enforcement we’re seeing from USDA and FDA.  So, I would add to probably the list of people that we ought to have come in, let’s have a representative from FDA come in and share with us what, if any, kind of enforcement they’re doing.  Let’s see whether we can get some clarification from the Board of Equalization, which I’m very anxious to hear their response as to why they’re not collecting.


The other issue is that we’re struggling with limited resources, and we have a bill that made it out of the policy committee last year intact that will have to undergo the legitimate questions that are raised in fiscal committees.  So, the Vargas bill, you know, the question has to be answered:  How do we fund a program?  I think we’ve heard from the department that there’s a willingness to do some things beyond what they’re currently doing and they have been doing, but I’m going to be very clear with all of us that it’s going to be a challenge, and unless we get some funding beyond what is being proposed as no funding in the Vargas bill, we’re going to have a hard time enforcing it.  That’s not to say we shouldn’t move forward.  I mean, we should probably determine whether or not we can simply redirect where the priorities are in the Department of Health Services in the lead program.  


And I think Senator Speier’s correct:  there are a number of sources that we could be exposed to.  It’s not just these candy products.  I suspect if we went in and we looked at the powder product for, you know, the jicama mixes and the tamarindo, the a la frescas, that they may in fact have these products.  I mean, if we went into Asian markets and did some testing, we might see some comparable challenges.  So, if we’re going to go this route, as I think we should, particularly the problems with children, then we have to be very clear about how broad and how wide this problem may indeed be.  


I do want to commend the county health officers and their role.  They have done the right thing.  And I do want to commend the addition of Dr. Jackson of the Department of Health Services.  With all due respect to the representatives from San Diego, we do have a representative that understands and is committed to this issue in Dr. Jackson.  And I am going to be very clear about, I think, our obligation to be cognizant of a number of sources that this product is reaching our children, and it’s not just the candies.  Indeed, it could be the pottery, and indeed, it could be the soil that’s tainted with lead.  


So, such a program has to be comprehensive, and it has to be looking at products other than simply products from Mexico, although it’s our predominant neighbor.


So, let me just thank Senator Speier and everybody.  We’ve gone beyond time. It’s really important information, but we have a lot more information to gather that will help make the case for the Vargas bill and the scope of this problem.  That’s the problem when we begin to look at this.  It’s bigger than we often anticipate and it’s more costly, but we have an obligation to take care of it, and we’ll commit to that. 


Thank you. 


SENATOR SPEIER:  Thank our staffs?


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank our staff who have done a great job.  Lots of information there, guys.  Thank you.

# # #
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